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Mobility – for people, goods, data and ideas. Our IT systems and software developments constantly
reinvent the concept of logistics. We combine longstanding expertise with state-of-the-art technologies and media to create cross-sectoral solutions in the high-growth markets for Public Transport,
Transport Logistics, Information Logistics and Mobile Services – integrated and user-driven, and highly
successful.
The challenge of mobility. We laid secure and crucial foundations for future growth in 2000. As Germany’s market leader for e-logistics in the local public transport sector and in the construction supplies and waste disposal logistics markets, our IPO on the Neuer Markt was compelling. We have further extended our position as one of Europe’s leading providers by establishing new subsidiaries
abroad. Important alliances and pioneering innovations brought us the strongest new order growth in
our history – and the best possible starting point for continued successful growth.

Innovation for mobility. We are working hard to extend our technology lead through our forwardlooking “Visions of Mobility” program. This includes monitoring and real-time scheduling for timesensitive activities, as well as developing additional online and offline products. Our near-term goal
is to make information available at any time and at any place, across all systems and across all
platforms.
Our Mobile Services segment is committed to developing pioneering mobile solutions – a UMTSenabled, cellphone-based mobile positioning system, for example; new services such as e-ticketing or
e-billing; emerging B2B segments; and increased development and distribution alliances. In Europe,
North and South America, for boundless global mobility that will bring benefits to everybody: the
market, our customers, and our customers’ customers – but above all for our shareholders.
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A year that saw us move a lot.
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Dear Shareholders and Friends of IVU,
It gives us great pleasure to present this, our first
annual report by IVU Traffic Technologies AG as a
listed public company. Our IPO in July last year
was an important milestone in our company’s
history. As an e-logistics provider with more than
25 years’ industry experience and a pole position
in this industry’s competitive environment, we
are now focusing all of our energies on highgrowth markets: Transport Logistics, Information
Logistics, Public Transport and – most recently –
Mobile Services.
We had three core strategic goals in fiscal 2000:
Internationalizing our business. Based on our
good position in Germany and our previous successful expansion in Europe, the transformation
of IVU into an international, globally operating
company is another major step, particularly in
view of our projected revenue and earnings growth. We implemented this strategy consistently
by establishing branches in Rome, London and
Rio de Janeiro and – of particular importance for
our customizing and consulting activities –
expanded our distribution network through
partnership agreements in the UK, the US and
Canada.

More than 15 percent of sales revenues – which
rose by just under 20 percent to DM 34.3 million
– were generated outside Germany.
Safeguarding our technical lead. We incorporate
our industry knowledge directly into our systems
development activities. Repeated new developments and ever more efficient solutions are part
of our continuous efforts to bring mobility to
people, goods and data. This is highly appreciated by our customers, in particular: some IVU
product series have now been proven by over 20
years’ use in selected market segments.
To safeguard the future, we are combining our
proven products with telematics, the Internet
and – from mid-2001 – m-business to develop
revolutionary e-logistics products. Last year, we
invested DM 3.2 million to develop new products
and further develop our existing range.
Extending our market position through selective
Mergers & Acquisitions. To further enhance our
market position, we stepped up the pace of our
strategic investments in Germany and abroad in
2000. Mergers and acquisitions firstly bring us
benefits from synergy effects, and secondly these
alliances enable us to ready IVU product series
even more effectively for e-competition, for
instance for use in Web portals that secure us
transaction-driven revenue. The underlying environment for consistently pursuing these strategic goals is extremely favorable, as the new fiscal
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2001 got off to a highly promising start – our
order books at January 1, 2001 nearly doubled
year/year to more than DM 24 million.
Looking back on what was a highly successful
year, we would like to extend our thanks to our
customers and suppliers for their close collaboration. We also wish to extend our gratitude to our
shareholders for the trust they placed in our
company.
Our very special thanks, however, go to our
employees for their outstanding efforts in 2000.
We look forward to another successful year with
all of you.

The Executive Board

The Supervisory Board.
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Prof. Dr. Herbert Weber
Chairman

Klaus-Gerd Kleversaat
Member

Professor Dr. Weber is Head of the Fraunhofer
ISST (Institute for Software and Systems Engineering), Berlin, and University Professor of Information Science at the Technical University of
Berlin.

Mr. Kleversaat is an Executive Board member of
Berliner Effektenbank AG.

Other offices:
· Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Webman AG, Berlin
· Member of the Supervisory Board of TDS AG,
Heilbronn
Dr. Hans-Ulrich Abshagen
Deputy Chairman
Dr. Abshagen is Managing Partner of
Abshagen & Partner KG, Berlin.
Other offices:
· Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Noxxon Pharma AG, Berlin
· Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
RÖNTEC Holding AG, Berlin
· Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Energis Online AG, Berlin

Other offices:
· Member of the Supervisory Board of
Euro Change Wechselstuben AG, Berlin

The Executive Board.
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left to right: Dr. Garben, Dr. Sonntag, Dr. Schemczyk, Dr. Winckler, Dr. Klemt

Name
Dr. Manfred Garben
Dr.Wolf-Dieter Klemt
Dr. Olaf Schemczyk
Dr. Herbert Sonntag
Dr. Joachim Winckler

Born
1944
1947
1950
1946
1946

Dr. Manfred Garben
Dr. Manfred Garben (born in 1944) studied Business and Engineering at the Technical University
of Berlin from 1966 to 1973. He was one of IVU’s
founding members in 1976. He completed his
doctoral thesis on “Studies of distribution
models in local public transport” the same year.
Dr. Garben is currently involved mainly with
GSM-based positioning systems and the use of
traffic telematics in the development of locationbased personal information services. He is a
board member of the “heureka” scientific foundation and of the German “Telematics PRO”
telematics society. He has addressed the problems surrounding the use of planning information systems in traffic projects and the potential
applications for wireless technology in mobility
management in numerous publications and lectures. As a member of IVU’s Executive Board, Dr.
Garben heads the Mobile Services segment and
is also responsible for Research and Development.
Dr.Wolf-Dieter Klemt
Dr.Wolf-Dieter Klemt (born in 1947) studied Business and Engineering at the Technical University

Responsibilities
Research and Development
IR/Communications/Marketing/Sales
Human Resources/Corporate Strategy
Business Development/Equity Investments
Finance

of Berlin from 1968 to 1974. His subsequent doctoral thesis dealt with applications for operations research techniques in local public transport planning. Dr. Klemt was one of IVU’s founding members in 1976. Since the end of the 1970s,
he has been involved in the development of software systems for transport logistics. He currently
focuses on the design and use of telematics in
logistics to develop marketable software products. He has been a project manager in many
transport logistics and passenger transport projects across the globe, for example in Asia, Africa
and Central America. In recent years, he has also
concentrated on developing the European market. Dr. Klemt is a member of the “German Society for Operations Research.” As a member of
IVU’s Executive Board, Dr. Klemt is responsible for
IR/Communications/Marketing/Sales.
Dr. Olaf Schemczyk
Dr. Olaf Schemczyk (born in 1950) studied Computer Science at the Technical University of Berlin
from 1972 to 1977. He has been a member of IVU
since 1978. His doctoral thesis for the title of
Dr.-Ing. was on the topic of “Forecasts and projections for products with short life-cycles.”
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Dr. Schemczyk has been involved with multi-user
software solutions since the early 1980s, focusing here on information systems with graphical
user interfaces and relational databases. In the
early 1990s, he extended the scope of his work to
object-oriented and distributed application platforms based on state-of-the-art standards (e.g.
JAVA, CORBA, EJB). A particular emphasis of is
work is on the integration of geo information
systems (GIS) with Internet applications.
Dr. Schemczyk is a board member of the “Gesellschaft zur Förderung der mittelständischen Software-Industrie in Berlin und Brandenburg e.V.”
(SIBB – Society for the Promotion of SME Software Enterprises in Berlin and Brandenburg). Dr.
Schemczyk heads the Information Logistics segment and is the IVU Executive Board member
responsible for Human Resources and Corporate
Strategy.
Dr. Herbert Sonntag
Dr. Herbert Sonntag (born in 1946) studied Business and Engineering at the Technical University
of Berlin from 1968 to 1973. He was a further
founder member of IVU in 1976. In the following
year, he completed his doctoral thesis on operations optimization in the transport industry.
Since the early 1980s, Dr. Sonntag has been working on topics related to commercial transport
and transport logistics. The main focus of his professional activities is on the design and use of
telematics services in the transport industry. Dr.
Sonntag is a member of several working parties

and associations in the logistics industry and has
authored numerous publications on the subject
of freight transport. Dr. Sonntag heads the Transport Logistics segment and is IVU’s Executive
Board member responsible for Business Development/Equity Investments.
Dr. Joachim Winckler
Dr. Joachim Winckler (born in 1946) studied Business and Engineering at the Technical University
of Berlin from 1968 to 1973. He gained his doctorate in 1975 on the subject of “Optimizing Personnel Deployment Planning in Local Public Transport” and was a founder member of IVU in 1976.
From 1978 to 1988, he was also managing director of “GEOMET – Umweltberatung und Regionalplanung mbH,” Berlin. Since the late 1980s,
Dr.Winckler has led the development of major
software and traffic planning projects in the Public Transport segment and advises public transport operators on the optimization of operating
workflows. At present, he also focuses on the
development of software for use in the international competitive environment. Dr.Winckler is
IVU’s CFO and heads the Public Transport segment.

The Company.
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Visions of Mobility.
Our IT solutions maximize mobility, backed by a
systematic approach to e-logistics to overcome
the otherwise unavoidable chaos in transport
and traffic.
Global networking via the Internet, telematics
and wireless communications enables distances
and borders to be crossed with ease; accessibility
and access to information are boundless.
Our Visions of Mobility are based on our belief
that today’s information society will evolve
towards perfect mobility.
With our software and systems solutions, we are
already helping our customers today to creatively shape this future. We call this “mobile business”: tailored solutions for a world of innovative, location-independent information and services systems.
More mobility – Better ideas. A simple example:
it’s evening, you’re away from your home town
and you’re looking for the nearest cinema. A
short SMS message to your provider – and the
next thing you know, you have the name and
address of the cinema, the current program and
a precise description of how to get there, including the relevant timetable: all on your cellular
phone. Another example: a breakdown on the
motorway. Instead of walking to the next emer-

gency phone, you can call the breakdown service
directly from your cellular phone – and thanks to
e-logistics, it knows exactly where you’re located.
Perfect e-logistics. Our e-logistics solutions open
up a new dimension of information. They are
more timely and more easily understood – and
help our customers to make their own ideas
faster and more mobile.
Location-based services – Your cellphone knows
where you are. This technology locates a person
or an object with the greatest precision solely
using GSM/SMS via the wireless network. It
opens up the logistics applications market to the
monitoring of moving objects based on the existing wireless infrastructure, and represents a
quantum leap in terms of cost reduction. Mobile
Services also provide a portal for innovative location-based services (e.g. e-billing and e-ticketing). Mobile Services can be used by all wireless
service providers.
Contour Web – The network with telematic abilities. Contour Web is IVU’s telematics service. It
locates objects worldwide and shows the current
position on digital maps. These can be adapted
at will to the concrete needs of our customers:
from global overviews to detailed city street
maps. What’s really so special about Contour
Web is that all you need is a simple PC with
Internet access – no special software is required.

The Company
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Taken together, the technologies used in Contour
Web are a genuine innovation. The mobile units
are equipped with intelligent on-board computers, GPS receivers and mobile data communications. The current position data can be supplemented by additional information, e.g. status
information such as cooling temperature or loading status. The Orbcomm satellite system can be
used in place of the terrestrial GSM network to
provide tracing around the world. Orbcomm
ensures global data communications, even in the
remotest corners of the world.
Filialinfo – Everywhere you want to be. Filialinfo
is our universal modular system to generate data
online on digital maps. Filialinfo is used for
instance in location planning, facility management or product distribution. The advantage: any
data (e.g. geographic information) can be combined from a variety of data platforms. A wide
variety of applications can be developed without
the need for additional conversion; for example
city information maps, enabling the precise
search of target addresses, that can be used for a
whole range of tasks – because mobility also
means being where you are not.

MICROBUS – Local transport on schedule. MICROBUS makes us the No. 1 in Europe for operations
scheduling. More than 130 public transport operators are already using MICROBUS. This system
enables comprehensive, efficient operations and
deployment scheduling for local public transport
(timetables and rosters, personnel and vehicle
deployment, transport information systems,
optimization modules in all components). As
with all of our products, MICROBUS is packed
with state-of-the-art technology. For example,
the system can be adapted to a wide range of
hardware platforms. MICROBUS can also be
implemented as an online solution and can be
integrated in WAP and Internet applications. Its
tremendous ease of use and transparent information structures simplify daily work.
Contour Express and Combitour – Combined
transport logistics. The Contour Express and
Combitour order and tour planning systems integrate forward-looking technologies such as online optimization, wireless telecommunications
and GPS. We have developed these cross-sectoral
product families into pioneering telematics solutions for the entire transport industry. We are
already the German market leader in the construction supplies and waste disposal sectors of
the Transport Logistics segment. In the construction supplies industry, a total solution for ex≠tremely time-critical concrete transport is
already in use as a logistics control system at
more than 30 scheduling centers throughout
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Germany. The system processes data for more
than 2,000 orders, more than 60,000 customer
locations and 200 production locations every
day. We not only help critically improve vehicle
deployment, cut mileage and working hours – it
is our system that enables the efficient management of just-in-time transport in the first place.
“Xi – eXtreme information”. This is the platform
of the future. It integrates all elements needed
for new e-logistics products and builds bridges
between heterogeneous legacy systems. It can
also be tailored to all customer requirements
and guarantees even faster delivery times. Xi has
also proven itself in several large projects, including at Deutsche Telekom.
Find out more about our innovations at
www.ivu.de.

The Company
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The year in review.
March 2000.
IVU presents new e-business solutions at CeBIT.
These include our innovative technology for pioneering location-based services such as e-billing
or e-ticketing. During this month, the Cologne
public transport operator also introduces MICROBUS and is thus one of more than 130 pan-European users of our operations scheduling system.
April 2000.
The public transport operators in the Greek capital Athens are convinced by MICROBUS and
introduce the system for the Athens metro.
Shortly thereafter, IVU again underscores its
commitment to Europe through the Italian
“Technologie nelle Reti e nei Sistemi T.R.S. SpA”
joint venture, which will develop a new technology for car-sharing instruments.

May 2000.
To extend our business in Italy, and in particular
in the Transport segment, we form our Italian
subsidiary IVU Italia Traffic Technologies S.r.l. in
Rome, a private limited company under Italian
law. IVU Italia starts operating on May 18, 2000.
The German parent has a 70 percent interest.
June 2000.
IVU announces its IPO on the Neuer Markt. Following intensive due diligence, the two syndicate
banks DG Bank and Bankgesellschaft Berlin give
the go-ahead. The total volume of the issue
amounts to 5,338,925 no-par value bearer shares
(including the greenshoe) with a nominal value
of 3 1 per share.
July 2000.
For us, the biggest event of the year: IVU lists on
the Frankfurt Neuer Markt on July 7, 2000. The
shares are 15 times oversubscribed, and the price
soars to more than 3 20 by the evening of the
first day’s trading. The business press also celebrates our highly successful IPO.
Two weeks after the IPO, IVU acquires a majority
interest in the Berlin-based subsidiary
“Beratungsgesellschaft für Leit-, Informationsund Computertechnik mbH” (BLIC).

The Company
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August 2000.
Our results for the first six months record a 50
percent year/year increase in the volume of
orders, with more than half of these new orders
being taken by our Systems division. Gross profit
also rises considerably over H1/1999 (by around
35 percent), reflecting not only the high level of
capital spending in our e-logistics products, but
also our new customer partnerships.
September 2000.
IVU and TTi Systems AG ink a joint venture agreement to develop the local public transport market. The agreement covers joint development of
a new, integrated product family under the name
Transit21®. The same month sees IVU presenting
software solutions at InnoTrans in Berlin and the
IAA Commercial Vehicles Show in Frankfurt, in
particular our fleet management system using
cellular phone-based positioning.

October 2000.
IVU decides to establish IVU Traffic Technologies
Ltd. in London, considerably enhancing our international market position. In Germany, IVU and
E-Plus sign an agreement on cellular phonebased positioning. The background: when UMTS
– the 3G wireless technology – comes onstream
in 2002, IVU will already have in place an attractive offering of new location-based services
using UMTS cellphones.
December 2000.
IVU and Deutsche Post AG sign a master agreement for 2001, with a contract value totaling
DM 3.5m. The Hamburg city cleansing department orders “Combitour” for Hamburg’s waste
disposal services. A successful end to a successful
year: IVU and FAUN, Europe’s largest manufacturer of structures for waste disposal vehicles,
decide to establish the joint web portal subsidiary FIT GmbH to develop the waste disposal
market.

IVU shares.
A flying start: IVU shares on the
Neuer Markt.
Logistics has a great future – including on the
Frankfurt Neuer Markt. More than 15 times oversubscribed, IVU shares were first listed on July 7.
Work on our IPO on the Frankfurt Neuer Markt
progressed at high speed throughout the first
half of 2000. The high-growth logistics segment,
our almost 25-year corporate history and our
Visions of Mobility made an investment in IVU
shares an attractive proposition for many
investors in the run-up to our IPO. A bookbuilding range of 3 9.00 to 3 10.50 was decided in concert with our lead-managers DG Bank and
Bankgesellschaft Berlin, and the shares were
priced at 3 10.50. Strong interest saw the first
quotation soar to 3 18.00. The closing price (floor
trading) on the first day of trading was an
impressive 3 20.50.
Share price performance. Following a sharp rise
driven by the boom in logistics share prices, IVU
shares followed the market down as the Neuer
Markt slumped. IVU share prices largely tracked
the Nemax to fall to 3 7.51 (Xetra) at the end of
2000. Our all-time high (Xetra closing price) in
2000 was 3 30.10 (August 21), and the low was
3 6.39 (December 28). This performance certainly
does not reflect IVU’s potential; rather, our shares
were driven down by the overall downturn on
the Neuer Markt. However, analysts too think
that our combination of software and logistics
holds out the promise of exceptional growth in
the future.
You will find a chart showing our share price performance on the inside front cover.
Trading volumes stabilize. As expected, IVU shares recorded high turnover volumes in the first
few weeks of trading. A total of more than 10
million shares were traded in the Xetra system
and on the floor in Frankfurt in July 2000, with
half of this figure being traded on the first day
alone. 7 million shares were traded in August
2000. Since then, the monthly trading volumes,
both in Xetra and on the floor, have stabilized at
around 1.5 million per month.
Greenshoe exercised. Following exercise in full of
the overallotment option (greenshoe), 38.9 percent of our shares were in free float at the end of
2000. A further 1.5 of IVU shares were allotted as
part of our Friends & Family program.

Voluntary extension to lockups. The Executive
Board members and Dr. Götz Wiegand made a
voluntary undertaking to extend the lockup to
a total of 18 months. This underscores their
long-term interest in IVU. The employee shares
(around 6 percent) are covered by a 12-month
lockup.
Share ratios. Earnings per share in accordance
with IAS 33 were DM 0.35 (3 0.18) for fiscal year
2000, more than tripling over 1999 (DM 0.11/
share). The book value per share was 3 9.21.
Investor Relations – active, open, transparent.
IVU’s Investor Relations department started
working well before the IPO. Aside from ensuring
compliance with ad hoc disclosure rules and the
publication requirements of the Neuer Markt,
the most important IR measures in 2000 focused
on the intensive and transparent provision of
information to all shareholders and potential
investors about developments at IVU relevant to
the capital markets.
Numerous institutional investors and analysts
attended our roadshows and presentations,
including at the IPOC 2000 in Frankfurt organized by the DVFA in November 2000, and at a
Neuer Markt conference in New York. A core component of our IR work is ensuring close contact
with our private investors. Many investors use
the opportunity to find out more about IVU on
our website and at product fairs.
As a member of the D.I.R.K. (Deutscher Investor
Relations Kreis e.V. – the German Investor Relations Association), we have made a voluntary
commitment to uphold professional IR standards. In concrete terms, this means that we
ensure active, open and transport communication with all investors.
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Group management report of IVU Traffic Technologies AG for the year
ended December 31, 2000.
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The following discussion and analysis is based in
part on the IAS consolidated financial statements
for the period ended December 31, 2000.
The discussion and analysis relates to the IAS consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2000,
the IAS consolidated income statement for fiscal
year 2000, the IAS statement of changes in consolidated noncurrent assets as of December 31,
2000, the IAS consolidated cash flow statement
for fiscal year 2000, the IAS group management
report for the period ended December 31, 2000
and the auditor’s report.
The notes to the IAS consolidated financial statements for fiscal year 2000 were reproduced in
condensed form and supplemented by additional
explanations. The IAS statement of changes in
consolidated equity for fiscal year 2000 was not
reproduced.
The complete IAS consolidated financial statements for the period ended December 31, 2000
have been published at the Berlin-Charlottenburg
Local Court, section B. No. 69310.

The development of the IVU Group
in its economic environment.
The IVU Group continued to extend its market
position in 2000. With almost 25 years’ experience, our group of companies is one of the
leading European providers of IT systems that
optimize logistics processes. Our products and
services enable innovative and efficient solutions
for all challenges facing the mobile society.
The IVU Group’s business segments are Information Logistics, Transport Logistics and Public
Transport, and – starting in 2001 – Mobile Services as our new market segment. The integration of industry knowledge with process expertise is generating pioneering products for traffic
telematics, the Internet and e-business that give
the IVU Group an excellent market position.
Demand was highest in 2000 in our Transport
Logistics and Public Transport segments, both of
which recorded dynamic growth. Demand is particularly high for new technologies and new
services concepts.
Transport and traffic on the move.
In the transport market, the efforts made by the
public transport operators to improve their
results of operations have increased appreciably.
In Germany in particular, legal reform and operating practices have prompted local authorities
to increasingly debate and to implement the
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outsourcing of transport services. To meet these
new challenges, there is a need for appropriate
tools and consulting services that is satisfied
ideally by the IVU Group and its software products and the focus of its services. The public
debate about improving the financial position of
Deutsche Bahn AG is both a graphic illustration
of this trend and a major challenge.

Xi platform for new systems solutions.
Another general trend that is emerging is for
software investment decisions to be increasingly
driven by requirements for cost-effectiveness
and the need to cope with complex business
processes. One consequence of this is a sharp rise
in demand for cross-platform, cross-technology
software solutions.

As in the economy as a whole, mergers and
acquisitions now play an ever greater role in
Public Transport and Transport Logistics. The IVU
Group’s business policy is focused in particular
on developing business relations with those
companies that are successfully positioned to
meet the challenge of global competition.

One example of this trend in the Information
Logistics segment involves the efforts being
made by authorities and organizations to
achieve the technical integration of autonomous
software solutions with clear content links without having to develop completely new systems.
The Xi platform is the IVU Group’s response to
this market demand. It enables heterogeneous
legacy systems to be integrated in a standardized environment with a single end-to-end user
interface. This technology was completed in
2000 and has already been successfully used in a
number of projects, for example with Deutsche
Telekom AG, Deutsche Post AG, the Berlin Senate,
Swiss Federal Railways and the Rhine-Main public transport network.

The logistics markets experienced a strong surge
in 2000. The growth in Internet-based commerce
and the increased use of other purchasing channels resulted in a sharp rise in transport volume.
This in turn demands improvements to logistics
workflows and support through state-of-the-art
software technology and optimization components.

Another trend that emerged in 2000 was a much
clearer focus on issues related to e-business,
including the integration of telematics, the Internet and associated applications.
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Products and references.
Last year, we continued the focused further
development of our core software products
MICROBUS, Combitour, Infopool, Filialinfo and
Contour Web; new modules were added and the
products were further established on the market. This resulted in the expansion of the customer base for all the products and brought us
new strategic customers. These include Deutsche
Post AG, Deutsche Telekom AG, Rhein-MainVerkehrsverbund (the Rhine-Main public transport network) and FAUN Novatec GmbH.
International business also grew. Key pilot projects for innovative new products have now been
commissioned both in Europe and North America, for example by Swiss Federal Railways, the
Santa Monica transportation authority (USA) and
a Brazilian service provider.
We presented significant new e-logistics products at trade fairs such as CeBIT in Hanover, the
IAA International Commercial Vehicles in Frankfurt, InnoTrans in Berlin and Systems in Munich.
The integration of a cellphone-based positioning
system was a major new development. Other
innovations deserving special mention include
the TTS products and the first ASP solution
models for our MICROBUS family and in the logistics segment. We invested a total of DM 5,830
thousand in product development.

Revenue and order growth.
We grew consolidated revenue from DM 28,683
thousand in 1999 to DM 34,332 thousand in
2000, for year/year growth of around 20 percent.
This increase was also a result of the addition of
new consolidated companies through the firsttime consolidation of our BLIC Beratungsgesellschaft für Leit-, Informations- und Computertechnik mbH and IVU Italia Traffic Technologies
S.r.l. subsidiaries. Gross profit rose by 52 percent
from DM 24,523 thousand in 1999 to DM 37,299
thousand in 2000. The new research projects
awarded by the European Union, the German
Education and Research Ministry and other funders in 1999 and partly in 2000 also contributed
to revenue.
New orders received in 2000 amounted to
DM 45,331 thousand, a 71 percent year/year increase. This has enabled the IVU Group to start
2001 with order books of DM 24,000 thousand,
almost double the figure at the beginning of
2000.

Group segment reporting (IAS) for fiscal year 2000
Jan. 1, 2000 to Dec. 31, 2000

Total

Transport
Logistics

Public
Transport

Information
Logistics

Revenue

34,332

8,159

20,590

5,583

Gross profit

37,299

11,369

20,497

5,433

4,726

147

2,434

2,145

Amounts in thousands of DM

EBIT*
* before goodwill amortization
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The seasonal fluctuations in the IVU Group’s revenue growth were clearly confirmed again in
2000, with a dramatic increase in revenue
recorded in Q4 compared with Q1-3/2000. The
sharp rise in the fourth quarter is driven by the
tendency of customers for new licenses to delay
many investment decisions until towards the
end of the year. On the other hand, the completion of systems introduction projects by the end
of a calendar year is often specified in the contract.

EBIT growth 1997 – 2000 (IAS)*
(DM mn)

5
4.7
4
3.1
3

2.8

2
1.6
1
0
1997

1998

1999

2000

* before goodwill amortization

Revenue growth 1997 – 2000 (IAS)
(DM mn)

40
34.3
35
28.7

30
25
20.7
20

18.7

15
10
5
0
1997

1998

1999

2000

Consolidated earnings.
Consolidated gross profit rose by 52 percent from
DM 24,523 thousand in 1999 to DM 37,299 thousand in 2000, with EBIT before goodwill amortization increasing from DM 1,625 thousand to
DM 4,726 thousand. Consolidated net profit improved from DM 899 thousand at December 31,
1999 to DM 2,730 thousand at December 31,
2000. DM 5,176 thousand of the IPO costs of
DM 8,630 thousand was deducted from equity
net of the related income tax benefit in accordance with SIC 17.

Segment reporting.
The development of selected earnings-related
items (IAS) in the three segments Transport
Logistics, Public Transport and Information Logistics in 2000 is presented above.
Overall, the organization of the IVU Group was
streamlined in 2000 and more closely oriented
to market requirements. The new Information
Logistics segments is composed of two units
from the former Systems division. This enables
us to provide more in-depth support to customers in the telecommunications industry and
in the field of geo information systems. The former Traffic division and the other units of the
former Systems division have now been merged
into the Public Transport segment. The Transport
Logistics segment continues to focus on business
processes and solutions in the market for transport logistics.
In early 2001, the IVU Group also established a
new additional segment – Mobile Services, which
combines all activities in the field of wireless
communication.
Sharp increase in Information Logistics EBIT.
The Transport Logistics segment recorded a modest positive EBIT in 2000. Contracts from a key
account in this segment were postponed until
2001, so that overall revenue fell short of our projections.

The EBIT/revenue ratio in the Public Transport
segment is around 12 percent. This segment
achieved some considerable marketing successes, especially abroad, and further improved the
already good market position of the IVU Group.
The Information Logistics recorded a considerable year/year increase in revenue, lifting the
EBIT/revenue ratio to more than 38 percent.
Capital expenditure.
In addition to the internal software development
projects already described, new capital spending
by the IVU Group focused in particular on hardware, networking and office equipment.
Net assets and financial position.
Following our IPO on July 7, 2000, we were able
to redeem loans, in particular by Deutsche Bank
AG and Berliner Volksbank e.G., to finance investments and the costs of the IPO. Loan redemptions totaled around DM 5,900 thousand.
Our investment of additional funds of around
DM 80,000 thousand from the net proceeds of
the IPO was governed by the strict principle of
risk minimization. Around 40 percent of the
funds was invested for terms of between 12 and
20 months, but the bulk was invested in call and
one-month money to ensure short-term availability.

The main focus of recruitment was for our development activities. We were also able to attract
highly qualified and motivated new executives,
who are now supporting and driving forward our
latest round of restructuring. These included a
Head of Finance, a Head of Sales/Marketing, one
Head of Segment for each of the Transport Logistics and Mobile Services segments, and a unit
manager in the Transport Logistics segment.
We also recruited a manager for our Hamburg
branch. We developed a new strategy to retain
both newly recruited and existing employees in a
highly dynamic seller’s job market and to bind
them to the Company.
The most important strategic factors are our
executives. They motivate employees, allocate
them to the most suitable positions, discuss
their development and represent the Company.
Executive skills development has therefore been
at the core of these measures since 1996. This
includes continuous identification of strengths
and weaknesses, goals and bottlenecks – both at
a personal and at a unit/corporate level. This
strategic and personal process is backed up by
regular workshops. The resulting findings will be
increasingly used as early warning indicators for
our balanced score card system.
Employee growth 1997 – 2000
Average number of employees/year (HGB)

247

250

We also used the proceeds of the IPO to invest in
BLIC Beratungsgesellschaft für Leit-, Informations- und Computertechnik mbH and in FIT
GmbH.

200
159
150
126

126

1997

1998

100

Human resources and welfare.
There was an average of 247 employees in the
IVU Group at December 31, 2000 (calculated in
accordance with section 267 (5) of the HGB – German Commercial Code). The average number of
employees in 1999 was 159. Inclusion of the two
new Group companies brought 22 new employees to the Group (average in accordance with
section 267 (5) of the HGB).
We were able to recruit more than 70 new
employees in 2000. Recruitment measures
focused in particular on:
· continuous presence in relevant online
recruitment markets;
· attendance at graduate and student fairs,
open days;
· active Internet searches;
· recruitment posters at universities.

50
0
1999

2000

Investments and alliances.
In July 2000, we increased our investment in BLIC
GmbH, Berlin, from 35 percent to just under 54
percent, and formed Group subsidiaries in Italy
and London.
These new subsidiaries represent major steps on
the route to further internationalization. billam
plc, a company active in the telecommunications
business, will take a 20 percent VC stake in our
IVU Traffic Technologies Ltd. subsidiary in London.
The agreement on close cooperation in the form
of a joint venture with TTi Systems AG in
Hanover in September 2000 was a key milestone
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in international market penetration in the Public
Transport segment. This cooperation covers the
extension of both companies’ product ranges
and the joint development of an integrated product family for public transport under the name
Transit21®. This represents the consistent extension of the existing cooperation between the IVU
Group and TTi Systems AG.
With solutions for passenger information systems, operations scheduling systems, local public
transport financials and e-business solutions
from IVU Traffic Technologies AG, and ticketing,
operations management and planning systems
from TTi Systems AG, the two companies can
now offer an end-to-end product range. In the
future, all customers worldwide of the two systems integrators will benefit from a finely tuned
product family from a single source. The two
companies together support more than 500 customers worldwide with their products and solutions.
At the end of December 2000, IVU Traffic Technologies AG and FAUN Novatec GmbH, Iserlohn,
formed a joint subsidiary: FIT GmbH in Iserlohn.
IVU Traffic Technologies AG, the e-logistics
expert, and FAUN, Europe’s largest manufacturer
of structures for special-purpose trucks for the
waste management industry, have now jointed
forces to sell innovative IT-driven solutions for
the waste disposal industry across Europe. FIT
GmbH will act as a services provider on the

waste disposal market, focusing on the sale and
operation of comprehensive IT systems via the
Internet. These include the provision of software
components for handling day-to-day business
and optimizing vehicle fleet use, the supply of
hardware (e.g. on-board computers) as well as
the creation of its own Web portal and IT hosting: vehicles and software will form an integrated system via a Web portal. Their bundled
industry expertise will enable the IVU Group and
FAUN to exploit new hardware and software
market potential in Europe. The products of the
two companies already successfully launched on
the market will be offered as an integrated solution for waste management in the waste disposal industry, and will be jointly further developed.
A subsidiary in Brazil is currently in the startup
phase, as is the branch office in Hamburg.
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Risks of future development.
Risks to the Company’s existence.
The efforts by IVU Traffic Technologies AG to
identify and ring-fence risks in the Group at an
early stage have been further intensified following the enactment of the Gesetz zur Kontrolle
und Transparenz im Unternehmensbereich (KonTraG – German Act on Control and Transparency
in Business). This law requires companies to
establish a comprehensive risk management system incorporating rules on the early identification and analysis of risks. Companies must also
establish a monitoring system to ensure that
risks are identified at an early stage and that
appropriate counter-measures can be taken if
risks emerge.
This monitoring system has been developed by
combining reports from the NAVISION system.
Responsibilities are defined for each of the activities related to the risk management system. This
system is currently being fine-tuned. Potential
risks are described and the necessary risk avoidance measures are illustrated in a risk management manual.
No risks to the continued existence of the Company have been identified.

Other risks.
Other risks exist primarily in the following areas:
· bad debts;
· customer payment patterns;
· delays in the completion of projects and
products;
· recruitment bottlenecks.
Comments on these risk areas:
Bad debts. With a large number of the IVU
Group’s customers coming from the public sector, bad debts due to customer bankruptcy are
unlikely. This risk exists for other customer
groups, but is relatively low due to the concentration on large customers. This analysis is
backed up by the fact that total bad debts due to
customer insolvency amount to around DM 900
thousand for the whole of IVU’s 25-year history.
For fiscal year 2000, however, two bad debt losses are expected; these have been provided for
by allowances totaling around DM 750 thousand.
Customer payment patterns. Customer payment
patterns are a more serious problem. The time
until payment of receivables has grown for all
customer groups, and is now around 60 days in
Germany. The Company has responded to this
situation by adopting the following measures: a
payment term of 14 days to three weeks is generally noted on invoices. Recording bank movements on a daily basis allows most receipts to be
registered on the same day. The project mana-
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gers receive a list of outstanding invoices once a
week plus reminder proposals from the system.
The unit managers can also call up information
on incoming payments directly from the system
at any time. Measures to collect overdue invoices
are decided at the weekly Executive Board meetings.
Delays in the completion of projects and products. We are responding to delays in the completion of projects and products by increasingly
shifting responsibility to the unit managers,
together with profit sharing if the unit closes the
period with a positive financial result. This also
includes more instituting more formalized project workflows and project development plans
through timetabling and defined sets of measures, as well as the unambiguous definition of responsibilities in the project team, including those
areas for which the customer is responsible. No
significant delays occurred or became evident
during the period under review.
Recruitment bottlenecks. Recruitment has become even more important to help us expand our
segments and acquire new projects. The scarcity
of qualified IT professionals in the software
recruitment market is now plainly visible. The
IVU Group tries to counter this problem by offering qualified staff attractive prospects in our
Company (taking responsibility for challenging
tasks, a good company environment, salary,
fringe benefits and profit sharing), and on the

other hand by maintaining close contacts with
universities and universities of applied technology to acquire employees at an early stage who
already have project experience and are familiar
with state-of-the-art software development
methodologies. We are being helped here by the
trend for graduates to look for their first jobs in
middle market companies offering attractive
projects. We try to promote IVU as this sort of
company, and therefore attend appropriate
recruitment events. New jobs are also advertised
on our home page.
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Outlook.
Our strong order books at the start of 2001 mean
that we have an excellent order and project situation at present. Our ability to attract strategically important customers (A customers) in 2000 in
particular demonstrates the high level of acceptance of the IVU Group’s know-how and solutions.
We need additional highly qualified staff so that
we can continue the consistent further development of our Company. Here too, we have implemented a number of significant measures. These
include our intention to establish a training center for our employees that will serve as a forum
for in-depth discussions and as a venue for meetings with experts from academia, business and
politics.
The proceeds from our IPO mean that our liquidity position is very good, and the Company has
ample cash resources to meet the challenges for
the future.
The market for mobility.
Our society is moving fast towards almost
boundless mobility. New aspects are coming to
the fore in addition to the quality of how we
actually overcome distance. The question of current location can no longer impact the supply of
information, accessibility or knowledge about
the local environment. On the one hand, these

demands on the quality of mobility are pushing
forward the need for media convergence, and on
the other, they are creating the need to make upto-the-minute information (data) available 24
hours a day.
The four segments of the IVU Group focus on
this mobility and on mobile communication. It is
already clear in both the Transport Logistics and
the Public Transport segments that it will be the
level of services they offer that will define the
market players here. This is also where the IVU
Group will be able to support its own customers.
The situation on the Information Logistics and
Mobile Services markets is comparable. The challenge in these segments will be to ensure the
availability of real-time information online or via
mobile devices.
Public transport. The IVU Group’s goal is to accelerate internationalization to achieve market leadership in Europe and, in doing so, to set global
standards. Products that have met with widespread market acceptance – such as MICROBUS –
help us achieve rapid, sustained penetration of
new markets through our licensing business.
We will help our customers adapt to deregulation and achieve an optimum position during the
subsequent shake-up of the public transport sector. Our consulting business, which is currently
recording sharp growth, is creating the basis for
even stronger future demand for the IVU Group’s
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systems solutions. The expected shake-up in the
markets will stimulate the Application Service
Providing business, which in turn should appreciably lift per capita revenue.
Our market will continue to grow substantially in
line with the rising demand for mobility, which
in turn will significantly lift the requirements for
intermodalization, and thus for the underlying IT
solutions – and not just in terms of quantity. On
the contrary, it will be the quality of services that
will decide competition between the market
players. The combination of solutions using GIS
technology and wireless positioning systems,
plus demonstrated industry expertise, will be the
key factors driving our ability to help our customers to market success.

Transport Logistics. The cross-sectoral division of
labor along the value chain of supply and waste
disposal companies is increasing the pressure to
integrate IT systems. Market-ready solutions
already feature open technology platforms enabling ASP programs to be used via the Internet.
The IVU Group’s solutions have already successfully made this step on the basis of the Xi platform.
Analysis of the flows of goods is now becoming
increasingly dynamic and thus more near-real
time, making the real-time integration and interaction of planning and control systems ever
more important. This applies both to the service
and cost levels at which companies operate.
Together with its partners, the IVU Group offers
fully integrated and ASP-enabled solutions
across the entire supply chain, in particular for
the courier and express, part load and container
transport markets. This enables the end-to-end
integration of facilities for real-time scheduling
and on- and off-board navigation for scheduling
and monitoring functions. Over the next few
years, Combitour and the product modules of the
Contour Express family will be the mainstays of
our internationalization, and thus increase the
value-added proportion of the product business.
The launch of Rentals Fleet will see the availability of another Internet-enabled product that will
support vehicle hire companies. The functions of
Rentals Fleet cover all the relevant business
processes of this sector.
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Information Logistics. The challenge facing Information Logistics is to make the right information
available in the right way, at any time and at any
place. The accelerating process of media convergence will see this culminating in all-in-one or
PDA-type devices. We are currently working hard
to incorporate the new technology standards
such as UMTS, and this is reflected in the comprehensive further development of our Xi platform. The Xi platform is also bringing the IVU
Group ever closer to applications such as egovernment, e-billing and e-ticketing. We are
convinced that our technology leadership and
industry expertise will enable us to crucially shape the future of m-business.
Mobile Services. IVU’s Mobile Services segment
focuses on the use of standard cellular phones
and PDAs (personal digital assistants) for personal, location-based and time-based information
management. Mobile Services reaches new B2B
market segments through
· logistics applications in those segments of the
market where solutions involving on-board
computers have traditionally been too
expensive (low-cost logistics services);
· applications for field force management in the
areas of field engineering services, field sales
forces and social services;
· traffic services which can exploit the benefits
of IVU’s positioning technology.

The IVU Group is forecasting a European market
volume of well over DM 3 billion up to 2006 in
these market segments. Within five years, these
services will be used by around 4 million people
in Europe alone.
The combination of established standard technologies and the IVU Group’s GSM-based positioning systems and powerful software components will open up market segments for completely new logistics applications. The goal of the
Mobile Services segment is to use the core competencies of the IVU Group to develop those
markets whose cost and demand structures have
made them a difficult challenge for conventional
logistics technologies. The clear focus on standardized basic services and the consistent use of
established terminal devices and application
environments enable applications to be developed that can offer a highly attractive range of
functions, coupled with low cost.

Berlin, February 2001
IVU Traffic Technologies AG

Consolidated balance sheet (IAS) as of December 31, 2000
Assets

Dec. 31, 2000
DM

Jan. 1, 2000
DM thousand

606,292.00

324

18,355,017.00

19,238

9,813,374.00

5,818

1. Plant and machinery

1,917,288.00

1,126

2. Other equipment, operating and office equipment

2,676,619.00

1,746

3. Advance payments and assets under development

5,151.96

11

1. Equity investments

61,803.05

74

2. Shares in cooperatives

50,000.00

50

Note
A. Noncurrent assets
I. Intangible assets

(5.2)

1. Concessions, industrial and similar rights, licenses
2. Goodwill
3. Internally generated intangible assets
II. Property, plant and equipment

III. Long-term investments

Financial statements

(5.3)

(5.5)

3. Investment securities

0.00

206

33,485,545.01

28,593

32

B. Current assets

(5.6)

I. Inventories

(5.7)

1. Work in progress

3,916,592.00

2,323

2. Finished goods and goods purchased and held for resale

5,441.50

305

3. Advance payments

5,000.00

0

11,436,743.24

7,105

II. Receivables and other assets

(5.8)

1. Trade receivables
2. Intragroup receivables

1,634,849.22

43

3. Other assets

5,998,452.96

2,422

42,930,771.63

0

39,426,780.13

1,600

105,354,630.68

13,798

528,204.28

330

1,476,489.00

106

140,844,868.97

42,827

III. Marketable securities

(5.9)

Other securities
IV. Bank balances

C. Prepaid expenses
D. Deferred tax assets

(5.11)

Equity and Liabilities

Dec. 31, 2000
DM

Jan. 1, 2000
DM thousand

I. Issued capital

25,816,956.00

16,112

II. Share premium

85,777,418.67

6,604

9,862,959.79

3,672

165,716.93

0

121,623,051.39

26,388

786,344.00

297

1,099,415.00

2,463

Note
A. Equity

III. Consolidated accumulated profits
IV. Minority interest

B. Special item: Investment grants and subsidies
C. Provisions

(5.10)

1. Retirement benefit obligation
2. Provisions for taxes
3. Other provisions

411,768.30

896

3,313,209.69

2,444

4,824,392.99

5,803
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D. Liabilities
1. Bank loans and overdrafts

177,023.93

1,984

2. Advances received from customers

3,793,026.53

1,469

3. Trade payables

2,195,322.04

2,016

4. Intragroup payables
5. Other liabilities

E. Deferred income
F. Deferred tax liabilities

(5.11)

0.00

2

2,530,986.59

1,649

8,696,359.09

7,120

46,089.50

0

4,868,632.00

3,219

140,844,868.97

42,827
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Statement of changes in consolidated noncurrent assets as of December 31, 2000
Historical cost
Balance at

Additions from
Additions
initial
consolidation
Jan. 1, 2000 July 1, 2000

Transfers

Disposals

Thousands of DM
I.

Intangible assets
1. Concessions, industrial and similar rights, licenses

930

308

305

0

6

19,238

0

81

0

0

7,666

4

5,826

0

0

27,834

312

6,212

0

6

1. Plant and machinery

2,965

205

1,207

0

567

2. Other equipment, operating and office equipment

2,839

528

1,414

11

541

3. Advance payments and assets under development

11

0

5

-11

0

5,815

733

2,626

0

1,108

52

2. Goodwill
3. Internally generated intangible assets

II. Property, plant and equipment

III. Long-term investments
1. Equity investments

74

0

40

0

2. Shares in cooperatives

50

0

0

0

0

3. Investment securities

206

0

0

0

206

330

0

40

0

258

33,979

1,045

8,878

0

1,372

Total

* Depreciation/amortization during the year
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Cumulative depreciation/amortization
Balance at

Balance at

Additions*

Jan. 1, 2000

Additions
from initial
consolidation
July 1, 2000

Dec. 31, 2000

Disposals

Carrying amount

Balance at

Balance at

Balance at

Dec. 31, 2000

Dec. 31, 2000

Jan. 1, 2000

1,537

606

56

273

4

931

606

324

19,319

0

0

964

0

964

18,355

19,238

13,496

1,848

0

1,835

0

3,683

9,813

5,818

34,352

2,454

56

3,072

4

5,578

28,774

25,380

3,810

1,839

0

620

567

1,892

1,918

1,126

4,251

1,093

175

730

424

1,574

2,677

1,746

5

0

0

0

0

0

5

11

8,066

2,932

175

1,350

991

3,466

4,600

2,883

62

0

0

0

0

0

62

74

50

0

0

0

0

0

50

50

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

206

112

0

0

0

0

0

112

330

42,530

5,386

231

4,422

995

9,044

33,486

28,593

Consolidated income statement (IAS) for fiscal year 2000

Note

2000
DM

1999*
DM thousand

(5.1)

34,331,679.19

28,683

-2,632,129.09

-3,085

3. Work performed by the enterprise and capitalized

5,825,798.00

1,249

4. Other operating income

5,459,587.68

2,141

-1,671,197.98

-1,666

1. Revenue
2. Reduction in inventories of finished goods and work in progress**

5. Cost of materials
a) Cost of raw materials and production supplies used
and of goods purchased and held for resale
b) Cost of purchased services

-4,014,617.32

-2,799

Gross profit

37,299,120.48

24,523

6. Staff costs

-20,695,927.32

-14,807

-1,623,264.09

-1,130

-1,834,881.00

-1,227

-964,185.82

0

10. Other operating expenses

-8,425,270.49

-5,739

11. Income from investments

5,250.00

5

12. Income from other investment securities and long-term loans

4,782.59

17

2,026,022.69

23

-51,853.22

0

15. Interest and similar expenses

-150,308.43

-65

16. Net profit from ordinary activities

5,589,485.39

1,600

-2,834,745.71

-691

-1,685.66

-10

2,753,054.02

899

7. Amortization of purchased intangible assets and
depreciation of property, plant and equipment
8. Amortization of internally generated intangible assets
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9. Goodwill amortization

13. Other interest and similar income
14. Amortization of long-term and current investments

17. Income tax expense
18. Other taxes
19. Consolidated net profit before minority interest
20. Minority interest

-22,614.03

0

21. Consolidated net profit after minority interest

2,730,439.99

899

22. Accumulated profits brought forward

3,424,898.21

2,773

23. Withdrawal from share premium

3,707,621.59

0

24. Consolidated accumulated profits

9,862,959.79

3,672

* Pro forma consolidated presentation of IVU Traffic Technologies AG and IVU GmbH.
** Not comparable with balance sheet item “Work in progress” due to changes in the companies consolidated.

Consolidated cash flow statement (IAS) for fiscal year 2000
The cash flow statement uses the indirect method set out in IAS 7.18b and shows the cash receipts and payments of the Group classified by operating, investing and financing activities.
2000

1999*

5,565

1,590

3,458

2,357

964

0

-305

-43

-1,364

278

8,318

4,182

Inventories

-1,300

3,201

Receivables and other assets

-9,501

-2,444

-42,931

0

Thousands of DM
I. Operating activities
Consolidated net profit before income tax expense for the period
(after minority interest)
Depreciation and amortization expense
Goodwill amortization
Profit/loss on asset disposals
Net change in retirement benefit obligation
Subtotal
Changes in working capital:
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Marketable securities
Current liabilities and provisions

1,944

-5,047

-1,567

669

1,696

3,219

-43,341

3,780

-2,835

-691

-46,176

3,089

-8,878

-3,889

684

147

-814

0

-9,008

-3,742

92,586

1,997

-247

-179

Appropriations to special item

489

297

Addition to minority interest

166

0

17

-214

Net cash from/used in financing activities

93,011

1,901

Net change in cash and cash equivalents

37,827

1,248

Prepaid expenses and deferred tax assets
Deferred income and deferred tax liabilities
Net cash from/used in operating activities before income tax expense
for the period
Income tax expense for the period
Net cash from/used in operating activities
II. Investing activities
Purchase of noncurrent assets
Income from noncurrent asset disposals
Additions from initial consolidation
Net cash from/used in investing activities
III. Financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of share capital
Dividends paid

Increase/decrease in medium- and long-term liabilities

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period
Cash and cash equivalents at end of period
(+ = Cash receipt / - = cash payment)
* Pro forma consolidated presentation of IVU Traffic Technologies AG and IVU GmbH.

1,600

352

39,427

1,600

Explanations/Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Condensed notes and supplementary explanations to the consolidated financial statements.
1. Basis of preparation.
The requirements of section 292a of the HGB
(German Commercial Code) for exemption from
the duty to prepare consolidated financial statements in accordance with German commercial
law have been satisfied. The assessment of these
requirements is based on German Accounting
Standard No. 1 (GAS 1) published by the German
Accounting Standards Board (GASB).
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The consolidated financial statements were prepared in accordance with the International
Accounting Standards (IASs) issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC)
and extant at the balance sheet date and reflect
the interpretations of the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC).
The provisions of the HGB differ from those of
the IASs in a number of material respects.
2. Consolidation methods.
All significant subsidiaries under the legal or
substantive control of IVU Traffic Technologies
AG have been included in the consolidated financial statements.
Any remaining excess of the cost of acquisition
of subsidiaries over the IVU Traffic Technologies
AG’s interest in the fair value of the assets
acquired is capitalized as goodwill in accordance
with IAS 22.41.
In accordance with IAS 22.44, goodwill is amortized over a useful life of 20 years.
3. Currency translation.
Accounts receivable are invoiced exclusively in
local currencies that are members of European
Economic and Monetary Union. They were converted at the official rates.
4. Companies consolidated.
The consolidated financial statements of IVU
Traffic Technologies AG include IVU Traffic Technologies AG (Holding) and its four German and
three foreign subsidiaries and associates.

The accompanying table presents these subsidiaries and associates, together with the equity
interest held, the proportionate ordinary share
capital and the applicable consolidation method.
The interests in BLIC Beratungsgesellschaft für
Leit-, Informations- und Computertechnik mbH
(BLIC GmbH), Berlin, were increased from 35 percent in 1999 to 53.87 percent, and this company
was also consolidated for the first time.
The newly formed IVU Italia Traffic Technologies
S.r.l., Rome, was also consolidated for the first
time. This new subsidiary will spearhead our
increased activities on the Italian market.
The FIT GmbH subsidiary in Iserlohn was formed
in December 2000 together with FAUN Novatec
GmbH. The Company’s aim from this move is to
bundle the resources of the IVU Group as an elogistics expert with those of FAUN, Europe’s
largest manufacturer of special-purpose truck
superstructures, and to generate corresponding
synergy effects in the pan-European marketing
of IT-based solutions for the waste disposal
industry.
Dilution effects from a capital increase cut the
interest held in the IVU Group in DISI
Gesellschaft für Dispositions-und Informationsmanagement im Straßenverkehr mbH, Hamburg,
from 10 percent to 6.8 percent.
The foreign subsidiaries IVU Traffic Technologies
Ltd., London, and IVU Traffic Technologies Brasil
Ltda., Rio de Janeiro, are currently being formed.
They are not included in the consolidated financial statements because they are irrelevant overall for the presentation of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the
Group.
IVU – Gesellschaft für Informatik, Verkehrs-und
Umweltplanung mbH, Berlin, which is fully consolidated, in turn holds a 25.3 percent interest in
IVU Umwelt GmbH, Freiburg. In fiscal 2000, IVU
Umwelt GmbH generated expected sales revenues of DM 500 thousand.

List of subsidiaries and associates
Name

Address

IVU – Gesellschaft für Informatik, Verkehrs-und Umweltplanung mbH, Berlin
BLIC Beratungsgesellschaft für Leit-,
Informations-und Computertechnik
mbH (BLIC GmbH), Berlin
IVU Italia Traffic Technologies S.r.l., Rome

Bundesallee 88
12161 Berlin
Rheinstraße 45
12161 Berlin

FIT GmbH, Iserlohn
DISI Gesellschaft für Dispositions-und
Informationsmanagement im Straßenverkehr mbH, Hamburg
IVU Traffic Technologies Brasil Ltda.,
Rio de Janeiro
IVU Traffic Technologies United Kingdom
Ltd., London

Revenue
(DM thousand)

Profit/loss from
ordinary activities
(DM thousand)

Number of
employees

Equity interest

1,841

1,348

0

100%

3 3 306,775.13 fully consolidated

4,132

142

38

53.9 %

DM 80,800 fully consolidated

553

-19

3

70%

ITL 14,000,000 fully consolidated

–

–

0

36%

3 9,000

associate

–

–

20

6.8 %

3 10,000

associate

–

–

–

–

in formation

–

–

–

–

–

–

in formation

–

–

Via Cornelio Magni 51
00147 Rome, Italy
Hegestück 20
58640 Iserlohn
Süderstraße 259
20537 Hamburg

5. Accounting policies.
5.1 Recognition of revenue and expense. Revenue
and other operating income is recognized at the
time of performance of the service or transfer of
risk to the customer. The percentage-of-completion method was not applied because the requirements of IAS 11 were not satisfied.

5.3 Property, plant and equipment. Additions
during the year relate principally to hardware,
office furniture and low-value assets.

Operating expenses are recognized when a service is utilized or occasioned. Warranty provisions
are recognized when the corresponding sales
revenues are generated.

Maintenance expenses that do not increase the
value or materially prolong the useful life of
items of property, plant and equipment are
expensed directly when incurred. Material renovations and improvements are capitalized.

Property, plant and equipment is carried at historical cost and reduced by straight-line depreciation over the expected useful life.

Interest income and expenses are matched.
5.2 Intangible assets. Purchased intangible assets
relate primarily to software programs and licenses. These are amortized using the straight-line
method over useful lives of between three and
five years.
Internally generated intangible assets are capitalized in accordance with IAS 38. If technical feasibility has been established and future economic benefits are probable, the cost of several distinguishable internally generated software
programs are estimated at their development
costs.

Disposals are recorded for both historical cost
and cumulative depreciation. Gains and losses
from the disposal of noncurrent assets are recognized in other operating income or expenses.
Low-value assets with acquisition costs of less
than DM 800 are written off in full in the year of
acquisition for reasons of materiality.
The depreciation periods for property, plant and
equipment range between three and 15 years.
5.4 Write-downs. There was no requirement for
write-downs during the period under review.

Allocation is made on the basis of the development effort (hours) incurred in fiscal year 2000,
using the relevant individual hourly rates for the
employees concerned, plus overheads.

5.5 Long-term investments. Investments in associates and investment securities were carried at
cost during the year and sold as of December 29,
2000.

These assets are amortized over the expected
useful life of between three and seven years
using the straight-line method.

5.6 Current assets. Current assets are carried at
the lower of cost and net realizable value at the
balance sheet date.

Proportionate
share capital

Consolidation
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5.7 Inventories. Inventories are also are carried at
the lower of cost and net realizable value at the
balance sheet date.
The Company’s projects in progress disclosed at
the balance sheet date do not satisfy the criteria
set out in IAS 11 for recognition as long-term construction contracts. No revenue was therefore
recognized using the percentage-of-completion
method.
5.8 Receivables and other assets. Doubtful
accounts are carried at the net realizable value
(principal amount). In addition to specific valuation allowances, a general valuation allowance of
1 percent of the remaining net receivables was
charged.
5.9 Current investments. Long-term and current
investments are measured in accordance with
IAS 39. IVU’s portfolio of fixed-income securities
to be measured are neither financial assets held
for trading nor loans and receivables originated
by the company.
IVU has no positive intent to hold these investments to maturity. For the purposes of subsequent measurement, these financial assets are
therefore exclusively classified as available-forsale financial assets and measured as required
by IAS 39. Any adjustments to these amounts are
recognized in the income statement.

5.10 Provisions. Provisions are set up on the basis
of the principle of prudent business practice and
take account of all uncertain obligations and
risks.
Provisions for warranties and remedial work are
set up to cover general and specific risks. These
apply both to risks resulting from projects in
progress at the balance sheet date, and risks
from projects completed during the year under
review.
Provisions for staff-related expenses relate to
outstanding compensated absences, unpaid
overtime, retained contributions to the occupational health and safety agency, and employee
bonuses. In accordance with IAS 19, the retirement benefit obligation is calculated using the
projected unit credit method and reflects future
compensation and pension increases.
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5.11 Deferred taxes. In accordance with IAS 12,
deferred taxes must be recognized for temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities in the tax accounts and in
the IAS financial statements.
Measurement of these deferred tax liabilities is
governed by the tax rates enacted at the balance
sheet date. Deferred tax assets from tax loss carryforwards are recognized in the amount in
which they are likely to be realized in the future.
6. Executive bodies of the Company.
6.1 Executive Board. In accordance with the
Articles of Association, the Company’s Executive
Board consists of one or more members, of
whom there are currently five:
Dr. Manfred Garben
Dr. Wolf-Dieter Klemt
Dr. Olaf Schemczyk
Dr. Herbert Sonntag
Dr. Joachim Winckler
The total remuneration of the members of the
Executive Board amounted to DM 1,481 thousand
in 2000, including remuneration for the management of IVU – Gesellschaft für Informatik,
Verkehrs-und Umweltplanung mbH, Berlin.

6.2 Supervisory Board. The following persons
have been appointed as members of the Supervisory Board:
Prof. Dr. Herbert Weber,
Chairman of the Supervisory Board,
Head of the Fraunhofer ISST (Institute for Software and Systems Engineering), Berlin, and
University Professor of Information Science at
the Technical University of Berlin
Dr. Hans-Ulrich Abshagen,
Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board,
Managing Partner of Abshagen & Partner KG,
Berlin
Klaus-Gerd Kleversaat,
Member of the Supervisory Board,
Executive Board member of
Berliner Effektenbank AG

Auditor’s Report.

“We have audited the consolidated financial
statements, comprising the balance sheet, the
income statement, the statement of changes in
equity, the cash flow statement, the segment
reporting, the notes and the group management
report prepared by IVU Traffic Technologies AG
for the fiscal year January 1 to December 31, 2000
in accordance with the standards issued by the
International Accounting Standards Committee
(IASC). The consolidated financial statements as
defined by section 292a of the HGB (German
Commercial Code) consist of the documents
required by the standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Committee (IASC)
and a structured presentation of the additional
disclosures for the group management report
required by Article 36 of the 7th EC Directive. The
preparation and content of the consolidated
financial statements and the group management report in accordance with International
Accounting Standards (IASs) are the responsibility of the Company’s legal representatives. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion as to
whether the consolidated financial statements
and the group management report comply with
International Accounting Standards (IASs) and
whether the other conditions for exemption
required by section 292a (2) of the HGB have
been satisfied, based on our audit.
We conducted our audit of the consolidated
financial statements in accordance with German
generally accepted standards for the audit of
financial statements promulgated by the Institut
der Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW) as well as in accordance with the International Standards on Auditing (ISA)s. Those standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable
assurance about whether the consolidated
financial statements are free of material misstatements. An audit includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by the legal representatives, as well
as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audit provides
a reasonable basis for our opinion. We conducted
our audit of the compliance of the consolidated
financial statements with the 7th EC Directive
required for exemption from the requirement to
prepare consolidated financial statements in
accordance with German commercial law on the

basis of the interpretation of the Directive by the
European Commission’s Contact Committee on
Accounting Directives.
We have reached the following opinion, based on
the findings of our audit:
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
net assets and financial position of the Group as
of December 31, 2000 and the results of its operations and cash flows for the year then ended
and comply with the IASs.
Our audit, which also extended to the group
management report prepared by the executive
board for the fiscal year January 1 to December
31, 2000, has not led to any reservations. In our
opinion, the group management report provides
an overall suitable understanding of the Group’s
position and accurately presents the risks of
future developments.
In addition, we confirm that the conditions
required for the exemption of the Company from
its obligation to prepare consolidated financial
statements and a group management report in
accordance with German law have been satisfied
(section 292a (2) of the HGB).”

Munich, March 1, 2001
O&R OPPENHOFF & RÄDLER GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft
Heidemann
Wirtschaftsprüfer

Schön
Wirtschaftsprüfer
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Supervisory Board report.
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During the year under review, the Supervisory
Board of IVU Traffic Technologies AG, Berlin, performed the duties required by law and the Articles
of Association, and supervised and advised the
Company’s management. It examined in detail
the position of the Company, the course of its
business, its business plans and business policy.
The Supervisory Board held in-depth discussions
with the Executive Board at seven joint meetings. It held another meeting without the Executive Board. The Supervisory Board was also kept
informed about significant transactions outside
its meetings.

The following issues were among the subjects of
intensive discussions in fiscal year 2000:
· the increased demands on the working
practices of the Executive Board and the
Supervisory resulting from the listing of the
Company’s shares;
· the strategic focus of the Company over the
next few years;
· the resulting organizational measures;
· the utilization of available funds;
· the recruitment of additional highly qualified
staff.
The annual financial statements and consolidated financial statements as of December 31, 2000
together with the management report of the
Company and of the Group for fiscal year 2000
which were prepared by the Executive Board
were audited by the auditors engaged by the
Supervisory Board, O&R OPPENHOFF & RÄDLER
GmbH Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft, Steuerberatungsgesellschaft, Munich, and issued with
unqualified audit opinions. The Company’s single-entity financial statements were prepared in
accordance with the laws and guidelines in force
in the Federal Republic of Germany. The consolidated financial statements were prepared in
accordance with International Accounting Standards (IASs). The aforementioned documents
were provided to the members of the Supervisory Board immediately after preparation. They
were discussed in detail at the meeting of the
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Supervisory Board on March 26, 2001 held in the
presence of the auditor, who provided a detailed
report on the findings of his audit. Following its
own inspection, the Supervisory Board did not
raise any objections and approved the annual financial statements of IVU Traffic Technologies AG
as of December 31, 2000, which are thus adopted.
The Supervisory Board wishes to thank the
Executive Board and all employees for their
efforts in fiscal year 2000 and extends its congratulations to all involved in the successful
IPO on July 7, 2000.

Berlin, March 2001
Prof. Dr. Herbert Weber
Chairman of the Supervisory Board
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Management report of IVU Traffic Technologies AG for the year ended
December 31, 2000.
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Because the business activities in the Group are
identical to those of IVU Traffic Technologies AG,
the Group management report and the management report are also largely identical (see p. 19 ff.).

The development of IVU AG in its
economic environment.
IVU Traffic Technologies AG continued to extend
its market position in 2000. As a market player
with almost 25 years’ experience, our Company is
one of the leading European providers of IT systems that optimize logistics processes. Our products and services enable innovative and efficient
solutions for all challenges facing the mobile
society.
IVU’s business segments are Information Logistics, Transport Logistics and Public Transport, and
our new market segment Mobile Services. The
integration of industry knowledge with process
expertise is generating pioneering products for
traffic telematics, the Internet and e-business
that give IVU an excellent market position.
Demand was highest in 2000 in our Transport
Logistics and Public Transport segments.
Both segments recorded dynamic growth, and
demand is particularly high for new technologies
and new services.

Transport and traffic on the move.
In the transport market, the efforts made by the
public transport operators to improve their
results of operations have increased appreciably.
In Germany in particular, legal reform and operating practices have prompted local authorities
to increasingly debate and to implement the
outsourcing of transport services. To meet these
new challenges, there is a need for appropriate
tools and consulting services that is satisfied ideally by IVU and its software products and the
focus of its services. The public debate about
improving the financial position of Deutsche
Bahn AG is both a topical illustration of this
trend and a major challenge. As in the economy
as a whole, mergers and acquisitions now play
an ever greater role in Public Transport and
Transport Logistics. IVU’s policy is focused on
developing and strengthening business relations
with those companies that are successfully represented in the competitive global environment.
The logistics markets experienced a strong surge
in 2000. The growth in Internet-based commerce
and the increased use of other purchasing channels resulted in a sharp rise in transport volume.
This in turn demands improvements to logistics
workflows and support through state-of-the-art
software technology and optimization components.
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Xi platform for new systems solutions.
Another general trend that is emerging is for
software investment decisions to be increasingly
driven by requirements for cost-effectiveness
and the need to cope with complex business
processes. One consequence of this is a sharp rise
in demand for cross-platform, cross-technology
software solutions.
One example of this trend in the Information
Logistics segment involves the efforts being
made by authorities and organizations to
achieve the technical integration of autonomous
software solutions with clear content links without having to develop completely new systems.
The Xi platform is IVU’s response to this market
demand. It enables heterogeneous legacy systems to be integrated in a standardized environment with a single end-to-end user interface.
This technology was completed in 2000 and has
already been successfully used in a number of
projects, for example with Deutsche Telekom AG,
Deutsche Post AG, the Berlin Senate, Swiss Federal Railways and the Rhine-Main public transport
network.
Another trend that emerged in 2000 was a much
clearer focus on issues related to e-business,
including the integration of telematics, the Internet and associated applications.

Products and references.
Last year, we continued the focused further
development of our core software products
MICROBUS, Combitour, Infopool, Filial-info and
Contour Web; new modules were added and the
products were further established on the market. This resulted in the expansion of the customer base for all the products and brought us
new strategic customers. These include Deutsche
Post AG, Deutsche Telekom AG, Rhein-MainVerkehrsverbund (the Rhine-Main public transport network) and FAUN Novatec GmbH.
International business also grew. Key pilot projects for innovative new products have now been
commissioned both in Europe and North America, for example by Swiss Federal Railways, the
Santa Monica transportation authority (USA) and
a Brazilian service provider.
We presented significant new e-logistics products at trade fairs such as CeBIT in Hanover, the
IAA International Commercial Vehicles in Frankfurt, InnoTrans in Berlin and Systems in Munich.
The integration of a cellphone-based positioning
system was a significant highlight.
Other innovations deserving special mention
include the TTS products and the first ASP
solution models for our MICROBUS family and
in the logistics segment. We invested a total of
DM 5,818 thousand in product development.

Sales and order growth.
Sales grew from DM 28,683 thousand in 1999
(H1: IVU GmbH before the leasing of the business
operations; H2: IVU Traffic Technologies AG) to
DM 30,042 thousand in 2000, for year/year
growth of around 5 percent. Gross profit rose by
19 percent from DM 24,523 thousand in 1999 (H1:
IVU GmbH before the leasing of the business
operations; H2: IVU Traffic Technologies AG) to
DM 28,965 thousand in 2000. Research projects
acquired from the European Union, the German
Education and Research Ministry and other funders in 1999 and partly in 2000 made a substantial contribution to sales revenues.

Management report
50

New orders received as of December 31, 2000
amounted to DM 45,331 thousand, a 71 percent
year/year increase. This enabled IVU to start 2001
with order books of DM 24,000 thousand,
almost double the figure at the beginning of
2000. The seasonal fluctuations in IVU’s sales
growth were clearly confirmed again in 2000.
Sales for the first nine months of 2000 were only
DM 15,448 thousand. The sharp rise in sales the
fourth quarter is driven by the tendency of customers for new licenses to delay many investment decisions until towards the end of the year.
On the other hand, the completion of systems
introduction projects by the end of a calendar
year is often specified in the contract.
Segment reporting.
Overall, the structuring of IVU into segments was
more clearly defined in 2000 and more closely
oriented to market requirements. The new Information Logistics segments is composed of two
units from the former Systems division. This
enables us to address more closely the needs of
customers in the telecommunications industry
and in the field of geo information systems. The
former Traffic division and the other units of the
former Systems division have now been merged
into the Public Transport segment. The Transport
Logistics segment continues to focus on business
processes and solutions in the market for transport logistics.
In early 2001, IVU also established a new additional segment – Mobile Services, which combines all activities in the field of wireless communication.
Capital expenditure.
In addition to the internal software development
projects already described, new capital spending
by IVU focused in particular on hardware, networking and office equipment. Investments in
new hardware amounted to DM 1,207 thousand,

and in the expansion and improvement of our
infrastructure to DM 1,298 thousand.
Net assets and financial position.
Following our IPO on July 7, 2000, we were able
to redeem loans, in particular by Deutsche Bank
AG and Berliner Volksbank e.G., to finance investments and the costs of the IPO. Loan redemptions totaled around DM 5,900 thousand.
Our investment of the net proceeds of the IPO
was governed by the strict principle of risk minimization. Around 40 percent of the funds was
invested for terms of between 12 and 20 months,
but the bulk was invested in call and one-month
money to ensure short-term availability.
We also used the proceeds of the IPO to finance
investments in BLIC Beratungsgesellschaft für
Leit-, Informations- und Computertechnik mbH
and in FIT GmbH.
Human resources and welfare.
There were 245 employees at IVU at December
31, 2000 (213 full-time equivalents).
The calculation in accordance with section 267
(5) of the HGB (German Commercial Code) produces an average of 226 employees in 2000 (196
full-time equivalents).
To recruit these new employees, our recruitment
measures in 2000 focused in particular on:
· continuous presence in relevant online
recruitment markets;
· attendance at graduate and student fairs,
open days;
· active Internet searches;
· recruitment posters at universities.
The main focus of recruitment was for our development activities. We were also able to attract
highly qualified and motivated new executives,
who are now supporting and driving forward our
latest round of restructuring. These included a
Head of Finance, a Head of Sales/Marketing, one
Head of Segment for each of the Transport Logistics and Mobile Services segments, and a unit
manager in the Transport Logistics segment. We
also recruited a manager for our Hamburg
branch. We developed new instruments to retain
both newly recruited and existing employees in a
highly dynamic seller’s job market and to bind
them to the Company.
The most important strategic factors are our
executives. They motivate employees, allocate
them to the most suitable positions, discuss

their development and represent the Company.
Executive skills development has therefore been
at the core of these measures since 1996. This
includes continuous identification of strengths
and weaknesses, goals and bottlenecks – both at
a personal and at a unit/corporate level. This
strategic and personal process is backed up by
regular workshops. The resulting findings will be
increasingly used as early warning indicators for
our balanced score card system.
Investments and alliances.
In July 2000, we increased our investment in BLIC
GmbH, Berlin, from 35 percent to just under 54
percent, and formed subsidiaries in Italy and London.
These new subsidiaries represent illustrate our
internationalization strategy. billam plc, a company active in the telecommunications business,
will take a 20 percent VC stake in our IVU Traffic
Technologies Ltd. subsidiary in London.

GmbH will act as a services provider on the
waste disposal market, focusing on the sale and
operation of comprehensive IT systems via the
Internet. These include the provision of software
components for handling day-to-day business
and optimizing vehicle fleet use, the supply of
hardware (e.g. on-board computers) as well as
the creation of its own Web portal and IT hosting: vehicles and software will form an integrated system via a Web portal. Their bundled
industry expertise will enable IVU and FAUN to
exploit new hardware and software market
potential in Europe. The products of the two
companies already successfully launched on the
market will be offered as an integrated solution
for waste management in the waste disposal
industry, and will be jointly further developed.
A subsidiary in Brazil is currently in the startup
phase, as is the branch office in Hamburg.
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The agreement on close cooperation in the form
of a joint venture with TTi Systems AG in
Hanover in September was a key milestone in
international market penetration in the Public
Transport segment. This cooperation covers the
extension of both companies’ product ranges
and the joint development of an integrated product family for public transport under the name
Transit21®. This represents the consistent extension of the existing cooperation between the IVU
Traffic Technologies AG and TTi Systems AG.
With solutions for passenger information systems, operations scheduling systems, local public
transport financials and e-business solutions
from IVU Traffic Technologies AG, and ticketing,
operations management and planning systems
from TTi Systems AG, the two companies can
now offer an end-to-end product range. In the
future, all customers worldwide of the two systems integrators will benefit from a finely tuned
product family from a single source. The two
companies together support more than 500 customers worldwide with their products and solutions.
At the end of December 2000, IVU Traffic Technologies AG and FAUN Novatec GmbH, Iserlohn,
formed a joint subsidiary: FIT GmbH in Iserlohn.
IVU Traffic Technologies AG, the e-logistics
expert, and FAUN, Europe’s largest manufacturer
of structures for special-purpose trucks for the
waste management industry, have now jointed
forces to sell innovative IT-driven solutions for
the waste disposal industry across Europe. FIT

Risks of future development.
Risks to the Company’s existence.
The efforts by IVU to identify and ring-fence risks
at an early stage have been further intensified
following the enactment of the Gesetz zur Kontrolle und Transparenz im Unternehmensbereich
(KonTraG – German Act on Control and Transparency in Business). This law requires the Executive Board to establish a comprehensive risk
management system incorporating rules on the
early identification and analysis of risks. Companies must also establish a monitoring system to
ensure that risks are identified at an early stage
and that appropriate counter-measures can be
taken if risks emerge.
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This monitoring system has been developed by
combining reports from the NAVISION system
with Excel lists maintained by the units. Responsibilities are defined for each of the activities
related to the risk management system. This system is currently being fine-tuned. Potential risks
are described and the necessary risk avoidance
measures are illustrated in a risk management
manual.
The course of business shows that the continued
existence of the Company is secure. No risks to
the continued existence of the Company have
been identified.
Other risks.
Other risks exist primarily in the following areas:
· bad debts;
· customer payment patterns;
· delays in the completion of projects and
products;
· recruitment bottlenecks.
Comments on these risk areas:
Bad debts. With a large number of IVU’s customers coming from the public sector, bad debts
due to customer bankruptcy can be almost totally excluded. This risk exists in the Logistics segment, but is relatively low due to the concentration on large customers. This analysis is backed
up by the fact that total bad debts due to customer insolvency amount to around DM 900 thousand for the whole of IVU’s 25-year history. For
fiscal year 2000, however, two bad debt losses
are expected; these have been provided for in the
2000 annual financial statements.
Customer payment patterns. Customer payment
patterns are a more serious problem. The time
until payment of receivables has grown for all
customer groups, and is now around 60 days in

Germany. The Company has responded to this
situation by adopting the following measures: a
payment term of 14 days to three weeks is generally noted on invoices. Recording bank movements on a daily basis allows most receipts to be
registered on the same day. The project managers receive a list of outstanding invoices once a
week plus reminder proposals from the system.
The unit managers can also call up information
on incoming payments directly from the system
at any time. Measures to collect invoices outstanding for more than 60 days are discussed at
the weekly Executive Board meetings.
Delays in the completion of projects and products. We are responding to delays in the completion of projects and products by increasingly
shifting responsibility to the unit managers,
together with profit sharing if the unit closes the
period with a positive financial result. This also
includes more instituting more heavily formalized project workflows and project development
plans through timetabling and defined sets of
measures, as well as the unambiguous definition
of responsibilities in the project team, including
those areas for which the customer is responsible. No significant delays occurred or became
evident during the period under review.
Recruitment bottlenecks. Recruitment has become even more important to help us expand
our segments and acquire new projects. The scarcity of qualified IT professionals in the software
recruitment market is now plainly visible. IVU
tries to counter this problem by offering qualified staff attractive prospects in our Company
(taking responsibility for challenging tasks, a
good company environment, salary, fringe benefits and profit sharing), and on the other hand by
maintaining close contacts with universities and
universities of applied technology to acquire
employees at an early stage who already have
project experience and are familiar with state-ofthe-art software development methodologies.
We are being helped here by the trend for graduates to look for their first jobs in middle market companies offering attractive projects. We try
to promote IVU as this sort of company, and therefore attend appropriate recruitment events.
New jobs are also advertised on our home page.

Outlook.
Our extensive order books at the start of 2001
mean that we have an excellent order and project situation at present. Our ability to attract
strategically important customers (A customers)
in 2000 in particular demonstrates the high level
of acceptance of IVU’s know-how and solutions.
We need additional highly qualified staff so that
we can continue the consistent further development of our Company. Here too, we have implemented a number of significant measures.
The proceeds from our IPO mean that our liquidity position is very good, and the Company has
ample cash resources to meet the challenges for
the future.
The market for mobility.
Mobility is emerging as an individually experienced aspiration. Our society is moving fast
towards almost boundless mobility. New aspects
are coming to the fore in addition to the quality
of how we actually overcome distance. The question of current location can no longer impact the
supply of information, accessibility or knowledge
about the local environment. On the one hand,
these demands on the quality of mobility are
pushing forward the need for media convergence, and on the other, they are creating the
need to make up-to-the-minute information
(data) available 24 hours a day.
IVU’s four segments focus on this mobility and
on mobile communication. It is already clear in
both the Transport Logistics and the Public Transport segments that it will be the level of services
they offer that will define the market players
here. This is also where IVU will be able to help
its own customers to secure market leadership.
The situation on the Information Logistics and
Mobile Services markets is comparable. The challenge in these segments will be to ensure the
availability of real-time information online or via
mobile devices.
Public transport. IVU’s goal is to accelerate internationalization to safeguard market leadership in
Europe and, in doing so, to set global standards.
Market-ready products – such as MICROBUS –
help us achieve rapid, sustained penetration of
new markets through our licensing business.
We will help our customers adapt to deregulation and achieve an optimum position during the
subsequent shake-up of the public transport sector. Our consulting business, which is currently

recording sharp growth, is creating the basis for
even stronger future demand for IVU’s systems
solutions. The expected shake-up in the markets
will stimulate the Application Service Providing
business, which in turn should appreciably lift
per capita sales.
Our market will continue to grow substantially in
line with the rising demand for mobility, which
in turn will significantly lift the requirements for
intermodalization, and thus for the underlying IT
solutions – and not just in terms of quantity. On
the contrary, it will be the quality of services that
will decide competition between the market
players. The combination of solutions using GIS
technology and wireless positioning systems,
plus demonstrated industry expertise, will be the
key factors driving our ability to help our customers to market success.
Transport Logistics. The cross-sectoral division of
labor along the value chain of supply and waste
disposal companies is increasing the pressure to
integrate IT systems. Market-ready solutions
already feature open technology platforms
enabling ASP programs to be used via the Internet. IVU’s solutions have already successfully
made this step on the basis of the Xi platform.
Analysis of the flows of goods is now becoming
increasingly dynamic and thus more near-real
time, requiring the real-time integration and
interaction of planning and control systems. This
applies both to the service and cost levels at
which companies operate. Together with its partners, IVU offers fully integrated and ASP-enabled
solutions across the entire supply chain, in particular for the courier and express, part load and
container transport markets. This enables the
end-to-end integration of facilities for real-time
scheduling and on- and off-board navigation for
scheduling and monitoring functions.
Over the next few years, Combitour and the
product modules of the Contour Express family
will be the mainstays of our internationalization,
and thus increase the value-added proportion of
the product business. The launch of Rentals Fleet
will see the availability of another Internetenabled product that will support vehicle hire
companies. The functions of Rentals Fleet cover
all the relevant business processes of this sector
above and beyond planning and scheduling.
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Information Logistics. The challenge facing Information Logistics is to make the right information
available in the right way, at any time and at any
place. The accelerating process of media convergence will see this culminating in all-in-one or
PDA-type devices. We are currently working hard
to incorporate the new technology standards
such as UMTS, and this is reflected in the comprehensive further development of our Xi platform. The Xi platform is also bringing IVU ever
closer to applications such as e-government,
e-billing and e-ticketing. We are convinced that
our technology leadership and industry expertise
will enable us to crucially shape the future of
m-business.
Mobile Services. IVU’s Mobile Services segment
focuses on the use of standard cellular phones
and PDAs (personal digital assistants) for personal, location-based and time-based information
management. Mobile Services reaches new B2B
market segments through logistics applications
in those segments of the market where solutions
involving on-board computers have traditionally
been too expensive (low-cost logistics services);
applications for field force management in the
areas of field engineering services, field sales
forces and social services; and traffic services
which can exploit the benefits of IVU’s positioning technology.

IVU is forecasting a European market volume of
well over DM 3 billion up to 2006 in these market segments. Within five years, these services
will be used by around 4 million people in Europe
alone.
The combination of established standard technologies and IVU’s GSM-based positioning systems and powerful software components will
open up market segments for completely new
logistics applications. The goal of the Mobile Services segment is to use IVU’s core competencies
to develop those markets whose cost and
demand structures have made them a difficult
challenge for conventional logistics technologies.
The clear focus on standardized basic services
and the consistent use of established terminal
devices and application environments enable
applications to be developed that can offer a
highly attractive range of functions, coupled
with low cost.

Berlin, February 2001
IVU Traffic Technologies AG
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Balance sheet of IVU Traffic Technologies AG as of December 31, 2000
Assets

Dec. 31, 2000
DM

Dec. 31, 1999
DM thousand

228,152.00

46

1. Technical equipment and machinery

1,288,520.00

447

2. Other equipment, operating and office equipment

1,121,840.00

382

5,151.96

11

21,309,171.52

20,762

45,035.13

5

23,997,870.61

21,653

1,882,252.00

2,323

2. Merchandise

5,441.50

305

3. Payments on account

5,000.00

0

1. Trade receivables

9,834,221.52

7,042

2. Receivables from affiliated companies

3,169,337.91

678

3. Receivables from associates

1,508,000.00

0

4. Other assets

6,546,095.03

2,088

42,793,944.29

0

38,317,133.86

1,339

104,061,426.11

13,775

520,100.90

330

128,579,397.62

35,758

A. Fixed assets
I. Intangible assets
Software
II. Tangible assets

3. Payments on account and assets under construction
III. Financial assets
1. Shares in affiliated companies
2. Shares in associates
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B. Current assets
I. Inventories
1. Work in progress

II. Receivables and other assets

III. Securities
Other securities
IV. Cash-in-hand, bank balances

C. Prepaid expenses

Equity and Liabilities

Dec. 31, 2000
DM

Dec. 31, 1999
DM thousand

I. Subscribed capital

25,816,956.00

16,112

II. Capital reserves

90,953,520.61

6,603

0.00

1,169

116,770,476.61

23,884

1. Special item: investment grants

231,520.00

80

2. Special item: investment subsidies

360,000.00

0

591,520.00

80

2,300,599.00

2,197

A. Equity

III. Net retained profits

B. Special items

C. Provisions
1. Provisions for pensions
2. Provisions for taxes
3. Other provisions

363,964.00

810

2,677,389.00

2,422

5,341,952.00

5,429
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D. Liabilities
1. Liabilities to banks

47,688.51

572

2. Payments received on account of orders

1,533,443.70

1,469

3. Trade payables

1,646,926.94

1,910

4. Payable to affiliated companies
5. Other liabilities

E. Deferred income

Financial statements

818,199.81

781

1,813,832.55

1,633

5,860,091.51

6,365

15,357.50

0

128,579,397.62

35,758
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IVU Traffic Technologies AG: Statement of changes in fixed assets as of December 31, 2000
Historical cost

I.

Balance at
Jan. 1, 2000
DM

Additions

Transfers

Disposals

DM

DM

DM

50,799.49

252,626.86

0.00

2,042.41

496,475.00

1,206,915.06

0.00

293.40

1,938.06

73,649.90

11,119.00

0.00

0.00

367,598.53

0.00

120,689.66

Intangible assets
Software

II. Tangible assets
1. Technical equipment and machinery, computer hardware
2. Other equipment, operating and office equipment
a) Leasehold improvements
b) Cars
c) Operating equipment

0.00

164,968.78

0.00

0.00

d) Office equipment

110,324.64

225,049.38

0.00

0.00

e) Other operating and office equipment

276,324.67

93,649.42

0.00

0.00

2.00

372,762.26

0.00

372,762.26

388,589.37

1,297,678.27

11,119.00

493,451.92

f) Low-value assets

3. Payments on account and assets under construction

11,119.00

5,151.96

-11,119.00

0.00

896,183.37

2,509,745.29

0.00

493,745.32

20,762,488.30

546,683.22

0.00

0.00

5,174.00

39,861.13

0.00

0.00

20,767,662.30

586,544.35

0.00

0.00

21,714,645.16

3,348,916.50

0.00

495,787.73

III. Financial assets
1. Shares in affiliated companies
2. Shares in associates

Total

* Depreciation/amortization during the year

Financial statements
59

Cumulative depreciation/amortization
Balance at
Dec. 31, 2000
DM

Balance at
Jan. 1, 2000
DM

Additions*

Disposals
DM

Balance at
Dec. 31, 2000
DM

Book value
Dec. 31, 2000
DM

Book value
Dec. 31, 1999
DM

DM

301,383.94

4,379.49

69,080.86

228.41

73,231.94

228,152.00

46,420.00

1,703,096.66

49,350.00

365,388.66

162.00

414,576.66

1,288,520.00

447,125.00

86,706.96

65.06

1,873.00

3,359.90

0.00

3,424.96

83,282.00

246,908.87

11,191.53

3,419.66

7,771.87

239,137.00

0.00

164,968.78

5,612.78

0.00

5,612.78

159,356.00

0.00

335,374.02

2,802.64

20,856.38

0.00

23,659.02

311,715.00

107,522.00

369,974.09

4,216.67

37,409.42

0.00

41,626.09

328,348.00

272,108.00

2.00

0.00

372,762.26

372,762.26

0.00

2.00

2.00

1,203,934.72

7,084.37

451,192.27

376,181.92

82,094.72

1,121,840.00

381,505.00

5,151.96

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

5,151.96

11,119.00

2,912,183.34

56,434.37

816,580.93

376,343.92

496,671.38

2,415,511.96

839,749.00

21,309,171.52

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

21,309,171.52

20,762,488.30

45,035.13

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

45,035.13

5,174.00

21,354,206.65

0.00

0.00

0.00

0.00

21,354,206.65

20,767,662.30

24,567,773.93

60,813.86

885,661.79

376,572.33

569,903.32

23,997,870.61

21,653,831.30

Income statement of IVU Traffic Technologies AG for fiscal year 2000
2000
DM

07-12/1999
DM

30,041,784.34

19,955,551.61

2. Decrease in work in progress

-440,388.00

-4,349,838.44

3. Other operating income

4,550,930.43

1,120,412.33

1. Sales

4. Cost of materials
a)
b)

Cost of raw materials, consumables and supplies and
of purchased merchandise

-1,390,863.98

-646,063.50

Cost of purchased services

-3,796,344.33

-1,784,079.05

28,965,118.46

14,295,982.95

-16,201,136.91

-7,218,573.70

-2,908,463.00

-1,285,176.73

Gross profit
5. Personnel expenses
a)

Wages and salaries

b)

Social security and other pension costs,
thereof for old age pensions:
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DM 192,690.62 (1999: DM 182 thousand)
6. Amortization of intangible assets and depreciation of tangible assets
7. Other operating expenses
Operating result

-885,661.79

-259,010.52

-9,603,119.90

-4,084,661.46

-633,263.14

1,448,560.54

8. Income from investments
thereof from affiliated companies: DM 1,064,286.00
9. Income from profit pooling agreement

1,064,286.00

0.00

1,304,618.91

463,366.30

2,017,833.51

5,956.28

-142,559.00

0.00

-105,381.15

-29,238.56

10. Other interest and similar income
thereof from affiliated companies: DM 9,459.96
11. Amortization of investments classified as current assets
12. Interest and similar expenses
thereof to affiliated companies: DM 44,921.98
13. Result from ordinary activities

3,505,535.13

1,888,644.56

14. Extraordinary expense

-8,626,801.94

0.00

15. Extraordinary result

-8,626,801.94

0.00

5,121,266.81

1,888,644.56

493,382.54

-896,247.72

-1,685.66

-3,346.00

-4,629,569.93

989,050.84

16. Taxes on income
17. Other taxes
18. Net loss/net income for the year
19. Retained profits brought forward
20. Withdrawals from capital reserves
21. Net retained profits

921,948.34

180,031.96

3,707,621.59

0.00

0.00

1,169,082.80

Cash flow statement of IVU Traffic Technologies AG for fiscal year 2000
Line

Item
Amounts in thousands of DM

2000

07-12/1999

Net result before extraordinary items

3,997

989

2 +/- Write-downs/write-ups on fixed assets

886

259

3 +/- Increase/decrease in accruals

-87

1,825

4 +/- Other non-cash income/expenses

111

81

-4

0

-10,705

-12,026

-5

9,584

-8,627

0

-14,434

712

121

0

-2,510

-1,092

1

5 -/+ Gain/loss on disposals of fixed assets
6 -/+ Increase/decrease in inventories, trade receivables and
other assets not related to investing or financing activities
7 +/- Increase/decrease in trade payables and
other liabilities not related to investing or financing activities
8 +/- Receipts and payments for extraordinary items
9

= Cash flows from operating activities

10

+ Proceeds from disposals of tangible assets

11

- Purchase of tangible assets

12

+ Proceeds from disposals of intangible assets

13

- Purchase of intangible assets

14

+ Proceeds from disposals of financial assets

15

- Purchase of financial assets

16

+ Receipts from the disposal of subsidiaries and business units

2

0

-253

-51

0

0

-40

-5

0

0
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17

- Purchase of subsidiaries and business units

-546

0

18

+ Receipts from short-term financial management of cash investments

0

0

19

- Payments for short-term financial management of cash investments

-42,794

0

20

= Cash flows from investing activities

-46,020

-1,148

21

+ Cash receipts from issuance of capital

97,764

1,220

-247

-180

0

0

400

0

22

- Cash payments to owners and minority shareholders

23

+ Cash proceeds from the issuance of bonds and from borrowings

24

+ Cash receipt from investment subsidy

25

- Cash repayments of bonds and borrowings

26

= Cash flows from financing activities

27

= Net change in cash funds
(total cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities)

-485

0

97,432

1,040

36,978

604

28 +/- Change in cash funds from exchange rate movements,
changes in companies consolidated and changes in measurement
29

+ Cash funds at beginning of period

30

= Cash funds at end of period
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0

0

1,339

735

38,317

1,339

Notes to the annual financial statements of IVU Traffic Technologies AG

The Company’s shareholdings as of December 31, 2000 were as follows:

Name and domicile

Equity
Carrying value
interest at Dec. 31, 2000
(%)
DM

Equity
DM thousand

Result
DM thousand

IVU – Gesellschaft für Informatik,
Verkehrs- und Umweltplanung mbH,
Berlin (IVU GmbH)

100.00

20,762,488.30

938

1,465*

BLIC GmbH, Berlin

53.87

532,407.50

376

129

IVU Italia Traffic Technologies S.r.l., Rome

70.00

14,275.72

-26**

-46**

FIT GmbH, Iserlohn

36.00

24,861.13

***

***

6.78

20,174.00

***

***

DISI Gesellschaft für Dispositions- und
Informationsmanagement im
Straßengüterverkehr mbH, Hamburg
Explanations/Notes
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* Before profit transfer to IVU Traffic Technologies AG.
** IAS.
*** Not yet known.

1. Accounting policies.Tangible and intangible
assets are carried at acquisition or production
cost and reduced by straight-line amortization or
depreciation.
Financial assets are carried at cost, including incidental acquisition costs.
Receivables and other assets are carried at their
principal amount in accordance with the principle of lower-of-cost-or-market.
The provisions take adequate account of all identifiable risks and obligations.

2. Notes on certain balance sheet items and on
the income statement.
The classification of and changes in fixed assets
are presented in the statement of changes in
fixed assets.
Intangible assets are carried at cost and reduced
by straight-line amortization of the standard
useful life.
Tangible assets are carried at cost less straightline depreciation. Low-value assets are written
off in full in the year of acquisition.

Liabilities are carried at their redemption
amount.

Work in progress is carried at production cost
and merchandise at acquisition cost in accordance with the principle of lower-of-cost-or-market.

Foreign currency receivables and liabilities are
carried at the exchange rate prevailing at the
transaction date of the receivables and liabilities
unless a lower or higher exchange rate at the
balance sheet date requires an adjustment in
their measurement.

Trade receivables are carried at their principal
amount less specific and global allowances for
doubtful accounts and have remaining maturities of less than one year.

The accounting policies remained unchanged as
against the previous year. Amounts disclosed for
the prior year relate the short fiscal year July 1 to
December 31, 1999.

Receivables from affiliated companies relate to
receivables from IVU GmbH, BLIC GmbH and IVU
Italia. These receivables resulted in interest
income from affiliated companies of DM 9 thousand.
The other assets include receivables with more
than one year to maturity amounting to DM 1,410
thousand (previous year: DM 1,064 thousand).

The maturity of liabilities is presented in the following maturity schedule:
Remaining maturity
Amounts in thousands of DM

Up to 1 year

1 to 5 years

More than
5 years

Liabilities to banks

Total

48

0

0

48

Payments received on account of orders

1,533

0

0

1,533

Trade payables

1,647

0

0

1,647

Payable to affiliated companies
Other liabilities

58

760

0

818

1,807

7

0

1,814

5,093

767

0

5,860
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To enhance the clarity of presentation of the net
assets, financial position and results of operations of the Company, the investment grants
received in 1999 and 2000 and investment subsidies granted are reported in special items as
allowed by section 265 (2) sentence 2 of the HGB
(German Commercial Code) and are reversed proportionately over the standard useful life of the
assets affected.
The provisions take adequate account of all identifiable risks.
Amounts payable to affiliated companies relate
to liabilities to IVU GmbH and BLIC GmbH. These
payables resulted in interest liabilities to affiliated companies amounting to DM 45 thousand.
Liabilities are carried at their redemption
amount. There were loan liabilities to Executive
Board members amounting to a total of DM 38
thousand at the balance sheet date (previous
year: DM 45 thousand). These resulted in interest
expenses of DM 2 thousand.
Sales revenues were generated largely from German customers.
Other operating income includes income from
the reversal of the special item for investment
grants amounting to DM 60,120, income from
the reversal of the special item for investment
subsidies amounting to DM 40,000 and income

from grants from the European Union, the German Education and Research Ministry and the
Berlin Senate totaling DM 3,896,919.86.
The extraordinary expense relates to expenses in
conjunction with the Company’s IPO on July 7,
2000.
The income from profit pooling relates to the
profit for fiscal year 2000 transferred by IVU
GmbH in accordance with the profit pooling
agreement. The net income for the year
contains income tax benefits amounting to
DM 493,382.54.
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3. Other disclosures.
The Company’s share capital at the balance sheet
date amounts to 3 13,200,000 and is composed
of 13,200,000 no-par value shares. The Company’s share capital can be increased up to May
29, 2005 on one or several occasions by a total of
up to 3 3,747,826 by issuing up to 3,747,826 new
no-par value bearer shares against cash or noncash contributions (authorized capital). Shareholders’ subscription rights may be excluded:
· to grant employee shares to employees of the
Company;
· to eliminate fractions;
· to acquire companies, parts of companies or
investments in companies against grant of
shares of the Company;
· to grant shares to strategic partners;
· for a cash capital increase against cash
contributions where this does not exceed 10
percent of the share capital and the issue price
of the shares is not significantly lower than
the market price;
· to place shares as part of the stock market
listing of the Company’s shares.
The share capital was increased by 3 57,812 to
3 8,295,652 and by 3 200,000 to 3 8,495,652 in
fiscal year 2000 on the basis of the authorization
on December 1, 1999. The increases were entered
in the commercial register on March 3 and June
16, 2000 respectively.

The General Meeting resolved on May 30, 2000
to increase the share capital by 3 4,304,348 to
3 12,800,000. This capital increase has been
implemented and was entered in the commercial
register on July 4, 2000.
The share capital was increased by 3 400,000 to
3 13,200,000 on the basis of the authorization on
May 30, 2000. This capital increase has been
implemented and was entered in the commercial
register on August 23, 2000.
The number of subscribed shares corresponds to
the amount of the increased share capital.
The Company’s share capital has been contingently increased by up to 3 150,000 by the issue
of up to 150,000 no-par value bearer shares carrying dividend rights from the start of the year of
issuance (contingent capital).
DM 8,058,473.46 was appropriated to the capital
reserves in conjunction with the capital increases. DM 3,707,621.59 was withdrawn from
the capital reserves to offset the net loss for
2000. During the year under review, the Company was represented by the following Executive
Board members:
Dr. Manfred Garben
Dr. Wolf-Dieter Klemt
Dr. Olaf Schemczyk
Dr. Herbert Sonntag
Dr. Joachim Winckler
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The following persons were appointed as members of the Supervisory Board:
Prof. Dr. Herbert Weber
· Chairman of the Supervisory Board
· Head of the Fraunhofer ISST (Institute for
Software and Systems Engineering), Berlin
· University Professor of Information Science at
the Technical University of Berlin
· Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Webmann AG, Berlin
· Member of the Supervisory Board of TDS AG,
Heilbronn
Dr. Hans-Ulrich Abshagen
· Deputy Chairman of the Supervisory Board
· Management consultant, Managing Partner of
Abshagen & Partner KG, Berlin
· Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Noxxon Pharma AG, Berlin
· Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
RÖNTEC Holding AG, Berlin
· Chairman of the Supervisory Board of
Energis Online AG, Berlin
Klaus-Gerd Kleversaat
· Member of the Supervisory Board
· Executive Board member of
Berliner Effektenbank AG
· Supervisory Board member of EURO Change
Wechselstuben AG, Berlin

The total remuneration of the Executive Board
members during the year under review amounted to DM 1,481 thousand.
The remuneration of the Supervisory Board
members during the year under review amounted to DM 72 thousand.
Commitments and contingencies.
Other material commitments not carried on the
face of the balance sheet comprise continuous
obligations (rental agreements and leases)
involving an annual expense of around DM 2,080
thousand.
Average number of employees during fiscal year
2000:
Salaried employees, full-time
Salaried employees, part-time
Casual workers

167
20
39
226

In concert with the Supervisory Board, the
Executive Board proposes withdrawing
DM 3,707,621.59 from the capital reserves to cover the net loss as of December 31, 2000 remaining after utilization of the retained profits
brought forward.

Supplementary explanations to the annual financial statements of
IVU Traffic Technologies AG as of December 31, 2000
Basis of preparation.
The annual financial statements of IVU Traffic
Technologies AG were prepared in accordance
with the laws and standards in force in the Federal Republic of Germany at the balance sheet
date. The accounting policies remained unchanged as against the previous year. Amounts
disclosed for the prior year relate the short fiscal
year July 1 to December 31, 1999.
Tangible and intangible assets.
Tangible and intangible assets are carried at
acquisition or production cost and reduced by
straight-line amortization or depreciation. Lowvalue assets are written off in full in the year of
acquisition.
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Financial assets.
Financial assets are carried at cost, including incidental acquisition costs.
Current assets.
Work in progress is carried at production cost
and merchandise at acquisition cost in accordance with the principle of lower-of-cost-ormarket.
Inventories.
Inventories are carried at the lower of cost or net
realizable value at the balance sheet date.
Receivables and other assets.
Receivables and other assets are carried at their
principal amount in accordance with the principle of lower-of-cost-or-market. Trade receivables
are carried at their principal amount less specific
and global allowances for doubtful accounts and
have remaining maturities of less than one year.
Receivables from affiliated companies total DM
3,169 thousand and have less than one year to
maturity. They include claims against IVU GmbH
from the profit pooling agreement and payment
transactions amounting to DM 2,403 thousand.
There are receivables amounting to DM 745
thousand from IVU Italia relating mainly to a
loan extended to this affiliate.
Receivables from associates totaling DM 1,508
thousand result from deliveries of goods and
services to FIT GmbH and have less than one year
to maturity.

The other assets contain deferrals from the calculation of the present value of the reinsurance
policy, securities, accrued interest, recoverable
taxes and claims from public-sector grants. They
include receivables of DM 1,410 thousand with
more than one year to maturity.
Securities.
The amount disclosed relates to fixed-income
securities, which were carried at cost. They were
written down by DM 143 thousand due to the
lower price at the balance sheet date.
Prepaid expenses.
The prepayments of DM 520 thousand result
from VAT on advance payments received and prepaid expenses.
Special items.
To enhance the clarity of presentation of the net
assets, financial position and results of operations of the Company, the investment grants
received in 1999 and 2000 and investment subsidies granted are reported in special items as
allowed by section 265 (2) sentence 2 of the HGB
(German Commercial Code) and are reversed proportionately over the standard useful life of the
assets affected.
Provisions.
The provisions are measured on the basis of prudent business practice and take account of all
uncertain obligations and risks. Other provisions
relate principally to outstanding vacation entitlement, unpaid performance-related bonuses and
overtime, as well as warranties.

Capital reserves
The capital reserves changed as follows:
DM
6,602,668.74

Balance at Jan. 1, 2000
Appropriation to capital reserves from subscription by employees of
14,453 no-par value shares

42,684.08

Appropriation to capital reserves from subscription by employees
of 50,000 no-par value shares

607,192.36

Appropriation to capital reserves from subscription
of 4,308,348 no-par value shares from the IPO

79,976,443.02

Appropriation to capital reserves from subscription
of 400,000 no-par value shares from the greenshoe

7,432,154.00
94,661,142.20

Withdrawals from capital reserves

-3,707,621.59

Balance at Dec. 31, 2000

90,953,520.61

Liabilities.
There are payments of DM 1,533 thousand
received on account of orders. The amount disclosed relates to progress payments by customers for projects in progress. The remaining
maturity is less than one year.
The amounts payable to affiliated companies
relate principally to the liability to IVU GmbH
from the transfer of assets and liabilities as of
July 1, 1999 to implement the agreement on
acquisition by lease signed on June 21, 1999 and
the resulting interest payments.
The liability is deferred for the life of the lease
and bears interest at the rate of 2 percent above
the prevailing European Central Bank base rate
from the date of transfer.
There were loan liabilities to Executive Board
members totaling DM 38 thousand at the balance sheet date (previous year: DM 45 thousand).
The liabilities are carried at their redemption
amount.
Other operating income.
The other operating income results largely from
the remeasurement of the present value of the
reinsurance policy and from grants by the Berlin
Senate, the German Education and Research
Ministry and the European Union.
Cost of materials.
The cost of materials contains purchased services
amounting to DM 3,769 thousand. These relate
to third-party services, as well as to project fees
paid to independent contractors and subcontractors.

Personnel expenses.
The personnel expenses are composed primarily
of wages and salaries (DM 16,201 thousand) as
well as social security and other pension costs
amounting to DM 2,909 thousand.
Other operating expenses.
The other operating expenses are broken down
as follows:
DM thousand
Operating expenses
4,347
Selling expenses
3,155
Administrative expenses
1,574
Miscellaneous expenses
528
9,603

Explanations/Notes
67

Net retained profits
Net retained profits changed as follows:
DM
Balance at Jan. 1, 2000
Distribution for the period July 1 to Dec. 31, 1999
Net loss 2000
Withdrawals from capital reserves
Balance at Dec. 31, 2000

1,169,082.80
-247,134.46
-4,629,569.93
3,707,621.59

0.00
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Operating expenses.
Operating expenses were incurred primarily for
the lease acquisition (IVU GmbH), for office
space, repairs and maintenance costs.

Other interest and similar income.
Other interest and similar income was collected
principally for accrued interest and time
deposits.

Selling expenses.
Selling expenses were incurred primarily for corporate image advertising and trade fairs. There
were also substantial travel expenses relating
largely to project work.

Extraordinary expense.
The extraordinary expense relates primarily to
costs in conjunction with the Company’s IPO on
July 7, 2000 on the Neuer Markt in Frankfurt am
Main.

Income from investments.
The amount disclosed relates to the distribution
of reserves by IVU GmbH during the year under
review amounting to DM 745 thousand prior to
the establishment of the fiscal entity, plus the
corporation tax imputation credit.
Income from profit pooling agreement.
The income from profit pooling agreement
relates to the profit for fiscal year 2000 transferred by IVU GmbH in accordance with the
terms of the profit pooling agreement.

Auditor’s report on the annual financial statements.
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“We have audited the annual financial statements, together with the accounting and the
management report of IVU Traffic Technologies
AG for the fiscal year from January 1 to December
31, 2000. The accounting and the preparation of
the annual financial statements and management report in accordance with German commercial law are the responsibility of the Company’s legal representatives. Our responsibility is to
express an opinion on the annual financial statements, together with the accounting and the
management report, based on our audit.

annual financial statements and the management report are examined primarily on a test
basis within the framework of the audit.
The audit includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made
by the legal representatives, as well as evaluating
the overall presentation of the annual financial
statements and management report. We believe
that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our
opinion.

We conducted our audit of the annual financial
statements in accordance with section 317 of the
HGB (German Commercial Code) and the generally accepted standards for the audit of financial
statements promulgated by the Institut der
Wirtschaftsprüfer (IDW). Those standards require
that we plan and perform the audit such that
misstatements materially affecting the presentation of the net assets, financial position and
results of operations in the annual financial
statements in accordance with German principles of proper accounting and in the management report are detected with reasonable assurance. Knowledge of the business activities and
the economic and legal environment of the Company and evaluations of possible misstatements
are taken into account in the determination of
audit procedures. The effectiveness of the internal accounting control system and the evidence
supporting the disclosures in the accounting, the

In our opinion, the annual financial statements
give a true and fair view of the net assets, financial position and results of operations of the
Company in accordance with German principles
of proper accounting. On the whole the management report provides a suitable understanding
of the Company’s position and accurately presents the risks of future development.”

Our audit has not led to any reservations.

Munich, February 21, 2001
O&R OPPENHOFF & RÄDLER GmbH
Wirtschaftsprüfungsgesellschaft
Steuerberatungsgesellschaft
Heidemann
Wirtschaftsprüfer

Schön
Wirtschaftsprüfer
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Visions of Mobility – for new directions in logistics
and boundless mobility. Pioneering, cross-platform
and location-independent e-logistics products are
our response to tomorrow’s mobility challenges. Following a compelling IPO last year and with highly
promising order books for 2001, we are now well on

